

LUND UNIVERSITY

Regulation of PKCalpha and the role of PKC in neuroblastoma cell migration

Stensman, Helena

2007

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Stensman, H. (2007). *Regulation of PKCalpha and the role of PKC in neuroblastoma cell migration*. Department of Laboratory Medicine, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or recorder.

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 From the Department of Laboratory Medicine, Center for Molecular Pathology, Lund University, Sweden

Regulation of PKCα and the role of PKC in neuroblastoma cell migration

Helena Stensman



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Academic dissertation

By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden, to be defended at the main lecture hall, Pathology building, University Hospital MAS, Malmö, on Friday 8th of June, 2007, at 13.00 for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, Faculty of Medicine.

Faculty opponent:

Professor Staffan Johansson, Department of Medical Biochemistry and Microbiology, Uppsala University, Sweden

Table of contents

List of nanors	3
Abbreviations	5
Introduction	7
Rackground	, 8
The PKC family	8
Structure	9
The regulatory domain	9
The catalytic domain	11
Variable domains	11
Maturation and post- translational modifications	12
Phosphorylation sites	12
Activation loop	12
Turn motif	12
Hydrophobic site	14
Additional phosphorylation sites	14
Phosphorylation by PDK1	14
Autophosphorylation	14
Regulation	15
Membrane association and dissociation	15
Dephosphorylation and degradation	15
Regulation of novel PKC isoforms	16
Intramolecular interactions	17
The pseudosubstrate	17
C1a-C2	17
RACK	17
Catalytic domain – phosphorylated V5 domain	18
Neuroblastoma	18
Migration	18
General aspects of migration	19
Formation of membrane protrusions and focal contact asse	mbly 19
Cell movement	20
	20
PDGF	20 21
lut-l	21
Integrins DKC and migration	2 I 21
r nu dilu iliiyidiluli DVC isoforma involvad in minutian	2 I 01
r nu isoloritis involved in inigration DVC and integring	∠ ו רכ
FIC and integrills PKC substrates	22
	~~

The present investigation	24
Aim	24
Results and discussion	25
Stimulation with carbachol induces a sustained	
translocation of catalytically inactive PKCa (Paper I)	25
Autophosphorylation is not a mechanism for dissociation of PKCα from the membrane (Paper I)	25
Non-phosphorylated PKCa is sensitive to diacylglycerol	
due to changed conformation (Paper I and II)	26
Non-phosphorylated PKCβI and PKCβII are sensitive to DAG	27
There is an intramolecular interaction between acidic residues in the V5 domain and a lysine-rich	
cluster in the C2 domain (Paper II)	28
GF109203X induces a changed conformation	
of PKCa (Paper I)	29
Activation of PKC stimulates migration of	
neuroblastoma cells (Paper III)	30
PKCc is the isoform driving migration (Paper III)	31
Downstream targets (Paper III)	31
Conclusions	33
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	34
Acknowledgements	36
References Paper I-III	38

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to as Paper I-III:

- I Autophosphorylation suppresses whereas kinase inhibition augments the translocation of protein kinase Cα in response to diacylglycerol Helena Stensman, Arathi Raghunath and Christer Larsson. 2004 J. Biol. Chem 279, 40576-40583
- II Identification of acidic amino acid residues in the PKCα V5 domain that contribute to its sensitivity to diacylglycerol Helena Stensman and Christer Larsson. Submitted manuscript
- III Protein kinase Cε is important for migration of neuroblastoma cells Helena Stensman and Christer Larsson. Manuscript

Reprint was made with permission from the publisher:

Copyright © 2004 The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

Abbreviations

ATP	adenosintriphosphate
DAG	diacylglycerol
DOG	1,2-dioctanoylglycerol
ECM	extracellular matrix
EGFP	enhanced green fluorescent protein
Erk	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ERM	ezrin-radixin-moesin
FAK	focal adhesion kinase
FRET	fluorescence resonance energy transfer
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor
Hsp	heat shock protein
IGF	insulin growth factor
IP3	inositol trisphosphate
MARCKS	myristoylated alanine-rich C kinase substrate
MLC	myosine light chain
MLCK	myosine light chain kinase
MRCK	myotonic dystrophy kinase-related Cdc42-binding kinase
PA	phosphatidic acid
PC	phosphatidyl choline
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PDK1	phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1
PDZ	PSD-95/Disc-large/ZO-1
PI3K	phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PICK1	protein interacting with C kinase 1
PIP2	phosphatidylinositol-(4,5)-bisphosphate
PIP3	phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5)-trisphosphate
РКС	protein kinase C
PLD	phospholipase D
PP	protein phosphatase
PS	phosphatidylserine
RACK	receptor for activated C-kinase
ROCK	Rho-associated coiled-coil-forming protein kinase
SH2	Src homology domain 2
TPA	12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate
WT	wild-type

Introduction

Since the discovery of protein kinase C (PKC) in 1977 its role in signal transduction has been extensively investigated. The PKC family consists of ten isoforms with different requirements for regulation and activation. Depending on the cell type different PKC isoforms influence a variety of responses implicated with cancer, *e.g.* apoptosis, migration and differentiation. Tight regulation of PKC is required for correct activation and subcellular localisation of PKC and phosphorylation of PKC itself is important for maturation and activation of the protein. Increased levels of second messengers induce translocation of PKC to specific subcellular locations where it gains access to its substrates. An increased knowledge of how the different PKC isoforms are regulated is of importance for the development of therapies for specific regulation of PKC.

A general aim of this thesis was to investigate how different PKC isoforms can be specifically regulated. Structures of the PKC molecule were modified to identify motifs that can be targeted in order to specifically regulate an isoform. To characterise processes of importance for malignancy regulated by specific PKC isoforms, the role of PKC in migration of neuroblastoma cells was investigated.

Background

The PKC family

Protein kinase C isoforms constitute a family of serine/threonine kinases that are involved in a large number of cellular processes. There are 10 mammalian isoforms identified and they all share in common an amino-terminal membrane targeting regulatory domain linked to a carboxyl-terminal catalytic domain [1]. The PKC isoforms can be divided into different subfamilies depending on structural and regulatory properties (Fig 1). The classical PKCs (α , β I, β II and γ) are sensitive to Ca²⁺ and diacylglycerol (DAG) while the novel PKCs (δ , ϵ , η and θ) are insensitive to Ca²⁺ but can be activated by DAG. The atypical PKCs (ζ and $\iota/\lambda)$ are neither sensitive to Ca^{2+} nor DAG [2]. All isoforms are encoded by different genes except for PKCBI and PKCBII that are splice variants of the same gene differing only in their C-terminal end [3].

The second messenger DAG is produced when G protein-coupled receptors or tyrosine kinase receptors are stimulated and activate PLC β and PLC γ , respectively. This results in the hydrolysis of membrane bound phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) yielding the second messengers inositol 1,4,5triphosphate (IP3) and DAG. IP3 can, by binding to IP3-gated Ca²⁺-channels, induce release of Ca²⁺ from the endoplasmic reticulum and thereby contribute to the activation of classical PKC isoforms [4]. DAG can also be produced when phosphatidyl choline (PC) is hydrolysed by phospholipase D (PLD) resulting in the formation of phosphatidic acid (PA) and choline. PA is suggested to activate PKC but it can also be converted to DAG by a PA phosphatase [5-7].

The different PKC isoforms show a distinct pattern of tissue distribution. PKCa, PKC β and PKC δ are ubiquitously expressed whereas PKC ϵ is found abundantly in hormonal, immune and neuronal cells [8, 9]. PKC γ is only expressed in the brain and spinal cord while PKC θ is found in T-lymphocytes and skeletal muscle [10, 11].

- Background -



FIGURE 1. Overview of the domain structures of the PKC family.

Structure

The PKC molecule is a single polypeptide chain with a molecular weight of 77-87 kDa consisting of an N-terminal regulatory domain and a C-terminal catalytic domain. These can be further subdivided into four highly conserved domains (C1-C4), separated by five variable domains with low sequence homology (V1-V5) [12].

The regulatory domain

The pseudosubstrate

The pseudosubstrate is located in the Nterminus of classical PKCs and C-terminal of the C2 domain in the novel PKCs and it resembles a PKC substrate, hence the name. The amino sequence between residues 19 and 36 in PKC α mimics a phosphorylation site but with an alanine instead of a serine at position 25. Mutating this alanine to a glutamate reduces the affinity for the active site and yields a more active protein [13, 14]. In the inactive state, the pseudosubstrate binds to the active site and keeps PKC in a closed conformation [15]. Upon activation PKC translocates to the membrane and the binding to the membrane provides energy to release the pseudosubstrate from the active site [16]. The pseudosubstrate domain is highly basic and binding to anionic phospholipids in the membrane stabilises the active form of PKC [17].

The C1 domain

The C1 domain is a cystein-rich compact structure of about 50 amino acids that is present in all PKC isoforms [18, 19]. The classical and novel PKCs contain a tandem repeat of C1 domains, the C1a and C1b, which is sensitive to DAG, while the atypical PKCs contain a single domain that is not sensitive to DAG [20]. Each domain has a conserved pattern of cystein and histidine residues that coordinate two Zn^{2+} ions each

[21]. The C1 domain contains two antiparallel β sheets that form a hydrophilic groove surrounded by hydrophobic residues. DAG and phorbol esters bind to this groove and cap the top third of the C1 domain providing a contiguous hydrophobic surface and this facilitates penetration into the membrane [22-24]. The middle third of the C1 domain contains positively charged residues that can interact with anionic phospholipids in the membrane [22].

Early in vitro studies indicate that the anionic phospholipid phosphatidylserine (PS) is an activator of PKCs [25]. However, more recent studies have demonstrated that the dependence or selectivity for PS in membrane binding and activation varies among the PKC isoforms. It is believed that different PS selectivity is in part due to differences in the accessibility and DAG affinity of the C1 domains. The C1a domain of PKCa and PKC δ show high affinity for DAG while their C1b domain preferentially binds to TPA and these isoforms also show high specificity for PS [26-28]. It is believed that the C1a domain is tethered to the C2 domain and that PS is releasing this binding allowing the protein to penetrate the membrane [29-33]. PKCy and PKCe show high affinity for phorbol esters and DAG and they both lack PS specificity. This is due to less restricted conformation of the C1 domains and PS is not required to loosening up a tethering between the C1a domain and the protein [34, 35]. Even though both classical and novel PKCs respond to DAG, novel PKCs have a much higher affinity for DAG than classical PKCs which must be pretargeted to membranes by Ca²⁺ to respond to DAG [36, 37]. Newton et al have identified a tryptophan in novel PKCs versus a tyrosine in classical PKCs at residue 22 in the C1b domain that controls whether PKC can respond to DAG alone or requires

 Ca^{2+} [38] and this might be an explanation to the different response pattern.

In addition, there is increasing evidence that the C1 domains mediate protein-protein interactions. The matrix protein fascin has been shown to interact with the C1b domain of PKCa [39] and two 14-3-3 binding sites have been identified within the C1b domain of PKC γ [40].

The C2 domain

The C2 domain consists of approximately 130 residues and was originally identified as the Ca²⁺ binding site in the classical PKCs [41]. However, novel PKCs also contain a C2 domain that binds negatively charged phospholipids in a Ca2+-independent manner [42, 43]. The C2 domains are composed of an eight-stranded antiparallel β sandwich connected by variable loops forming a pocket [44]. In the classical PKCs this pocket is lined by five conserved aspartate residues where two or three Ca²⁺ ions can bind and provide docking of PKC to the membrane as well as trigger a change in conformation [45, 46]. In the novel PKCs three of the five conserved aspartate residues in the classical PKCs are replaced by residues Phe36, His85 and Ala87, respectively, and this contributes to the insensitivity to Ca²⁺ [47]. Ca^{2+} acts like a bridge between the C2 domain and phospholipid head groups in the membrane thereby neutralising the negative charge of phospholipids and increasing the affinity for the C2 domain to bind anionic membranes [48]. In addition, the C2 domain contains a lysine-rich cluster located in the β 3 and β 4 strands forming a concave basic surface. Mutating the lysines to alanines reduces the need for Ca²⁺ and PS in the activation of PKCa suggesting that this part of the C2 domain is involved in an intramolecular interaction in the resting state [49]. The lysine-rich domain has

also been shown to be the binding site for PIP2 in PKC α and has been suggested to contain at least parts of the RACK-binding site [50, 51].

The catalytic domain

C3 and C4 domains

The catalytic domain consists of the C3 domain, with the ATP-binding site, and the C4 domain that contains the substrate-binding site as well as one of three phosphorylation sites important for activation of PKC [1]. The sequence identity of the catalytic domain between different PKC isoforms is more than 60% [52] and replacement of an invariant lysine in the ATP-binding site by any other amino acid leads to a catalytically inactive kinase [53]. The region surrounding the substrate-binding site consists of a conserved cluster of acidic residues that keeps the basic pseudosubstrate in the active site when PKC is in its closed conformation [15]. PKC phosphorylates serine/threonine residues and the hydrophilic nature of the substrate binding site is probably why PKC has a high affinity for basic peptides [54]. However, selectivity for specific sequences is limited suggesting that targeting PKC to specific subcellular locations is important for substrate specificity [55, 56].

Variable domains

V1

The function of the V1 domain is not well known but there is evidence that this domain is involved in subcellular targeting of PKC. Deleting the V1 domain from PKCa abolishes a second and prolonged phase of TPA-induced translocation in GH3BG cells [57]. These results are contrasting Oancea *et al* [58] that showed that deleting V1 from PKC γ induces a faster translocation upon stimulation with TPA. Furthermore, the V1 domain of atypical PKCs contains a motif that can interact with the SH2-interacting protein p62 [59].

V3

The V3 domain links the regulatory domain to the catalytic domain by a flexible hinge that becomes proteolytically labile when PKC binds to membranes and change conformation [60, 61] generating a constitutively active kinase domain and a functional regulatory domain [62, 63]. It has been shown that a sequence within the V3 domain of PKCa binds specifically to the cytoplasmic tail of β 1 integrin [64] and a three-amino acid motif in the V3 domain of PKCa and PKCe is essential for selective targeting to cell-cell contacts [65]. In a number of endocrine cancers a single point mutation in the PKCa V3 domain (D294G) has been identified [66, 67] and this mutant has been shown to be unable to bind tightly to membranes and fails to transduce several anti-tumourigenic signals [68].

V5

The V5 domain is a segment of about 50-70 amino acid residues in the C-terminus of PKC. Although it contains two highly conserved autophosphorylation sites the V5 domain is the least conserved domain in PKC [2]. The C-terminus of PKC is important for structural stability of the protein and it also contributes to subcellular localisation as well as being involved in interactions with other proteins [69]. The V5 domain also serves an important regulatory function of PKC depending on the phosphorylation of the autophosphorylation sites. Furthermore, the V5 domain is important for catalytic activity. If the last 10 amino acids in the C-terminal site are removed from PKC α the protein is catalytically incompetent.

The V5 domain has an important role in the localisation of PKC which is demonstrated for PKCBI and PKCBII which only differ in the V5 domain. These two isoforms translocate to distinct subcellular locations in the same cell type [71] and are associated with different physiological functions [72-75]. The V5 domain also contains parts of the RACK1-binding site and the interaction with RACK1 also contributes to the subcellular localisation of PKC [76]. There are several reports suggesting interactions between the V5 domain and other proteins. PKCa can interact with PICK1 via a unique PDZ-binding domain in the V5 domain and this interaction might localise active PKC to the plasma membrane and thereby bringing it in proximity with specific substrates [18]. Furthermore, there is a direct interaction between the V5 domain of PKCa and syndecan-4, even though it is not clear whether this association requires autophosphorylation [77]. There are however examples where autophosphorylation determines whether the V5 domain will interact with other proteins. PDK1 [78], PLD1 [79], Hsp70 [80] and Hsp25 [81] all preferentially bind non-phosphorylated PKC while there is evidence that 14-3-3 can interact with phosphorylated turn motif [82].

Maturation and posttranslational modifications

PKC contains three conserved phosphorylation sites, the activation loop, the turn motif and the hydrophobic site which are critical in the regulation of its function. The sites are conserved in classical and novel isoforms whereas the atypical PKCs contain a glutamate in the hydrophobic site [83]. Phosphorylation is a prerequisite step to allow activation and substrate phosphorylation and without these priming phosphorylations the kinase is catalytically inactive [84]. Once phosphorylated, PKC is maintained in a closed, active conformation but because the pseudosubtrate is occupying the substrate-binding site the protein is functionally suppressed. Upon ligand binding the pseudosubstrate is released and PKC can phosphorylate its substrates [69] (Fig 2).

Phosphorylation sites

Activation loop

The activation loop is a stretch of 20-30 amino acids located in the catalytic cleft of the catalytic domain [85, 86]. Phosphorylation of a threonine residue in a conserved motif by PDK1 (see below) is the initial priming step for maturation and is necessary for PKC to become a functional kinase [69, 87]. Phosphorylation of the activation loop is crucial for autophosphorylation of the turn motif and the hydrophobic site but once phosphorylated at the two C-terminal positions, the cPKCs no longer require a phosphate at the activation loop to be catalytically competent [83, 88].

Turn motif

The turn motif is a conserved phosphorylation site in the C-terminus of PKC and has been proposed to have a stabilising role and protect against inactivation. Phosphorylated turn motif interacts with the catalytic domain and this interaction locks PKC in a catalytically competent conformation that

- Background -



FIGURE 2. Model for regulation of PKC by phosphorylation and cofactors. Newly synthesised PKC is located by the plasma membrane in an open conformation in which the pseudosubstrate is released from the active site. PDK1 phosphorylates the activation loop and this is followed by autophosphorylation of the turn motif and the hydrophobic site. The phosphorylated protein is released into the cytosol where it is maintained in a closed conformation with the pseudosubstrate bound to the active site and the C1 domain masked. Generation of DAG and Ca^{2+} targets PKC to the plasma membrane and the release of the pseudosubstrate allows downstream signalling. Modified from A Newton, 2003.

is insensitive to dephosphorylation and degradation [83, 88, 89]. Phosphorylation of the turn motif is also important for the localisation of PKC and non-phosphorylated turn motif is believed to localise the protein to the detergent-insoluble fraction of cells [90]. There are different opinions whether phosphorylated turn motif is necessary for PKC activity. Bornancin et al have shown that a negative charge at this site does not have an effect upon catalytic activity on its own but rather stabilises the protein and protects it from phosphatases [89]. On the other hand it has been demonstrated that phosphorylated turn motif is essential for both catalytic activity and correct subcellular localisation of PKCBI and PKCβII [83, 90, 91]. The authors claim that phosphorylation sites in the vicinity of the turn motif may compensate for the absence of a negative charge when the turn motif is non-phosphorylated [91].

Hydrophobic site

The hydrophobic site is the most C-terminal autophosphorylation site and it contains a serine or threonine residue flanked by hydrophobic amino acids. It has been demonstrated that a negative charge on the turn motif is necessary for the hydrophobic site to be phosphorylated [83, 91]. There is no absolutely requirement for a negative charge on the hydrophobic site to yield a fully active protein. Rather it controls phosphorylation of other sites of PKC as well as maintaining the protein in an active, closed conformation thereby preventing dephosphorylation and degradation [92-95]. Phosphorylation of the hydrophobic site has also been suggested to increase the affinity for Ca²⁺ and PS probably because of a conformational change that locks the protein in a catalytically favourable conformation [95]. Several studies have demonstrated that the autophosphorylated V5 domain positions itself on top of the catalytic domain. Phosphorylated hydrophobic site can generate the appropriate conformation on its own even though the interaction is stronger when the turn motif is phosphorylated as well [89, 96, 97]. Apart from its stabilising role the hydrophobic site also provides a docking site for PDK1 [98] (see below).

Additional phosphorylation sites

Once the mature PKC has been formed, it is believed to be subjected to further autophosphorylation and transphosphorylation by various activators and protein kinases [99]. A number of non-conserved autophosphorylation sites have been identified but these sites have not been shown to be important for PKC activity [100, 101]. PKC δ is frequently phosphorylated on tyrosine residues it has been shown that treatment with H₂O₂ induces tyrosine phosphorylation of classical PKC isoforms leading to activation unrelated to the DAG-dependent activation [102].

Phosphorylation by PDK1

The first and rate-limiting step in the activation of PKC is phosphorylation of the activation loop by PDK1 [69] and it has been suggested that both PDK1 and PKC need to be recruited to the membrane by phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5)-trisphosphate (PIP3) and DAG, respectively, for this phosphorylation to occur [87]. PDK1 has been shown to be regulated by tyrosine phosphorylation at several sites and translocates to the membrane when activated [103]. According to a model by Newton [104, 105] newly synthesised, non-phosphorylated PKC is located by the membrane where PDK1 directly phosphorylates the activation loop by docking to the non-phosphorylated hydrophobic site. PDK1 actually has higher affinity for phosphorylated hydrophobic site, but because the phosphorylated full-length protein has a more closed conformation PDK1 is not able to bind it in this conformation. However, negatively charged carboxyl-terminal constructs compete with PKC and displace PDK1 from PKC accelerating the maturation of PKC by promoting autophosphorylation [78]. Thus, PDK1 regulates PKC by phosphorylating the activation loop and also promotes autophosphorylation due to its release. Contrasting this hypothesis is a study demonstrating that a cluster of positively charged amino acids in PDK1 interacts with the phosphorylated hydrophobic site in various AGC kinases [106]. It is also suggested that other parts than the hydrophobic site is essential for the interaction with PDK1. Reducing the entire V5 domain from PKCE still induces an interaction with PDK1 [107], although this deletion makes PKC catalytically inactive, and at least in the case of PKC β and PKC ζ , the regulatory domain might play a role in PDK1 interaction [78, 108].

Autophosphorylation

Autophosphorylation has besides regulating the activity and localisation of PKC [109] been shown to alter its membrane binding [90], increase its sensitivity to Ca^{2+} and its rate of H1 histone phosphorylation when assayed *in vitro* [83, 110] and to increase the sensitivity of the enzyme to down-regulation [89, 92, 94]. When PKC is non-phosphorylated it is maintained in a closed conformation and is not competent to downstream signalling. Once phosphorylated, PKC can be activated by its second messengers and translocate to membranes and phosphorylate its substrates [69]. It is believed that PKC is phosphorylated at the activation loop shortly after synthesis suggesting the phosphorylation is not regulated [69]. However, several stimuli and extracellular factors have been shown to influence the levels of autophosphorylated PKC suggesting that autophosphorylation is regulated [111-115]. One possible explanation for the differences could be that the autophosphorylation is regulated in primary cell cultures [111, 112, 115] while the regulation is changed in cancer cells inducing constitutive autophosphorylation.

Regulation

Membrane association and dissociation

Stimulation with physiological stimuli activates PLC-coupled receptors and the subsequent increase in levels of Ca²⁺ and DAG induces translocation of PKC to the plasma membrane and other intracellular locations [58, 116, 117]. In addition to physiological stimuli phorbol esters and fatty acids induce isoform-specific targeting to different cellular membranes [16, 118]. Depending on the cell type and stimulus PKC translocates to distinct subcellular locations including the plasma membrane [117, 119], cell-cell contacts [57], nucleus [120] or perinuclear structures such as the endoplasmic reticulum [71, 121] or recycling endosomes [122]. Targeting of different PKC isoforms to distinct locations in the cell is important for bringing PKC close to its substrates as well as positioning individual PKCs in the appropriate location to respond to specific receptor-mediated activating signals [123].

Several studies have shown that the initial increase in Ca²⁺-levels induces translocation to the plasma membrane of the classical PKCs where the C2 domain interacts with PS [58, 117, 119, 124]. Once bound to the membrane the protein undergoes changes in the conformation allowing the C1a domain to insert into the membrane and this drives the release of the pseudosubstrate from the active site [29]. For most PLC-coupled receptors, agonist activation is immediately followed by desensitisation and down-regulation of the receptors [125]. The subsequent decrease in the cellular DAG and Ca²⁺-levels leads to a relocation of PKC to the cytosol. It has been suggested that kinase activity of PKC is essential for the returning of the protein to the cytoplasm following its membrane translocation [116, 119] and inability to relocate has been proposed to be due to lack of autophosphorylation [109, 126].

Dephosphorylation and degradation

PKC signalling is also controlled by desensitisation mechanisms and prolonged stimulation with phorbol esters or growth factors ultimately leads to inactivation and down-regulation of the enzyme [127]. A key step in the inactivation of PKC signalling is dephosphorylation of the priming phosphorylation sites and this step is triggered by the membrane-associated activation of PKC [128, 129]. However, dephosphorylation does not determine the rate of down-regulation indicating that these desensitising pathways might operate in parallel [130]. Membrane-bound PKC is highly sensitive to dephosphorylation because of a more open conformation that exposes phosphorylated residues to phosphatases and proteases [88, 128, 130, 131]. There are

two protein phosphatases that frequently dephosphorylate PKC; protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) dephosphorylates all three priming sites yielding an inactive protein whereas protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) selectively dephosphorylates the activation loop and the hydrophobic site yielding a protein that is capable of rephosphorylation and activation [83]. Once dephosphorylated, PKC is thought to undergo ubiquitination and proteolytic degradation [132]. There are however other studies demonstrating that fully phosphorylated PKC can be ubiquitinated at the plasma membrane and subsequently degraded by the proteasome [133]. The same authors also provide evidence for a second proteasome-independent pathway that involves caveolae-dependent trafficking of the active enzyme to a perinuclear compartment where dephosphorylation and degradation occur [133, 134].

Regulation of novel PKC isoforms

There are not as many studies done on regulation of novel PKCs as classical PKCs. There are reports suggesting that these isoforms are regulated by phosphorylation on conserved sites like the classical PKC isoforms as well as reports proposing different mechanisms. While phosphorylation of the activation loop by PDK1 is necessary for activation of PKCe [135] the dependence on activation loop phosphorylation of PKC δ is still a point of controversy. It has been suggested that the activation loop of PKC δ does not need to be phosphorylated to be catalytically active [136, 137]. There are several possible explanations for how PKC δ can be active despite lack of a negative charge on the activation loop. It has

been suggested that a glutamate positioned five residues N-terminal of the activation loop partially fulfils the role of activation loop phosphorylation [138] and a recent study identifies two phenylalanines near the activation loop that are supposed to stabilise the activation loop of PKC8 in the absence of phosphorylation [86]. However, other studies show that the lack of a phosphate on the activation loop greatly reduces activity and show that PKC δ is phosphorylated by PDK1 in the same manner as the classical PKCs [139]. The novel PKCs have the same conserved phosphorylation sites in the C-terminus as the classical PKCs and at least phosphorylation of the turn motif has been shown to be important for control of activity and stability of the protein [140]. In the same manner as the classical PKCs it has been suggested that the hydrophobic site of PKCE is autophosphorylated by intrinsic catalytic activity [135]. However, phosphorylation of the hydrophobic site in PKCS and possibly PKCE, has also been proposed to be phosphorylated by a kinase complex including PKCζ. Inhibition of the mTOR pathway with the inhibitor rapamycin abolishes phosphorylation suggesting a regulatory role for mTOR in phosphorylation of the hydrophobic site [141, 142].

PKC δ exhibits some unique properties illustrated by the fact that activated PKC δ can be tyrosine-phosphorylated by different tyrosine kinases [138]. Tyrosine phosphorylation has been shown to create a modified enzyme that is activated by a lower concentration of lipids [102]. However, tyrosine phosphorylation has also been reported to diminish the activity of PKC δ and these different effects on activity might regulate the specificity of the kinase towards a given substrate [143, 144].

Intramolecular interactions

There are several intramolecular interactions that keep PKC isoforms in a closed conformation and these are important for exact regulation of the protein. Release of intramolecular interactions opens up the conformation of PKC and facilitates associations with lipids and other proteins. This leads to activation and translocation of PKC and subsequent phosphorylation of its substrates. Some interactions have only been studied for certain isoforms and it is not clear whether they are present in all isoforms while others are more general.

The pseudosubstrate

The first known intramolecular interaction is between the pseudosubstrate and the substrate-binding site in the catalytic domain and this interaction maintains PKC in an inactive conformation. Deleting the pseudosubstrate or mutating an alanine to a glutamate in the pseudosubstrate leads to increased activity of PKC [145] and also increased sensitivity to proteolysis because the protein is in a more open conformation [13]. Upon activation, PKC is targeted to the plasma membrane and penetration of the protein into the membrane provides the energy to release the pseudosubstrate from the active site [69].

C1a-C2

As mentioned above, individual PKC isoforms show different specificity to PS and follow distinct membrane-binding mechanisms. When PKC is in its resting state the C1a domain is not available for DAG binding and this is thought to be due to an intramolecular interaction between the C1a domain and the C2 domain [30, 31, 49, 146]. Mutation studies have shown that D55 in the PKCa C1a domain binds to R252 in the C2 domain hiding the DAG-binding site. This intramolecular interaction is disrupted when PS in the membrane binds to the calcium-binding loop in the C2 domain and allows membrane penetration and DAG binding of the C1a domain [31]. A similar intramolecular interaction has been demonstrated for PKCS which like PKCa only has the capacity to bind DAG with its C1a domain. Mutating E177 in PKCδ, corresponding D55 in PKCa, dramatically increases activation and DAG binding for PKC δ [32]. On the other hand, mutation of a corresponding amino acid residue in PKCy, in which both C1 domains bind DAG equally well, does not change DAGbinding [35].

RACK

RACKs are anchoring proteins that are thought to interact with active PKC and localise it in close proximity to its substrates. Active PKC can interact with its RACKs via a RACK-binding site located in the C2 and V5 domain of PKCβII [51, 147] and in the C2 domain of PKCe [148, 149]. In the inactive state, the RACK-binding site in PKC is tethered to an intramolecular sequence located in the C2 domain that resembles the sequence of the corresponding RACK (pseudo-RACK) and this keeps the protein in a closed conformation. For PKCBII it is most likely mainly the V5 domain that is involved in the intramolecular interaction with the pseudo-RACK and this masks the RACK-binding site in the inactive state [76]. Based on this hypothesis Mochly-Rosen and coworkers have designed inhibitory and activating peptides based on the RACK-binding and pseudo-RACK sites. Peptides that bind to RACK compete with PKC and inhibit translocation of PKC to its RACK [150]. In a similar way, peptides based on the pseudo-RACK disrupt the intramolecular interaction and the more open conformation exposes the RACK-binding site and enables association with PKC and its anchoring RACK [151].

Catalytic domain — phosphorylated V5 domain

As mentioned above, non-phosphorylated PKC adopts a more open conformation and is more sensitive to dephosphorylation. When PKC is autophosphorylated the V5 domain positions itself on top of the N-lobe in a basic cluster in the catalytic domain [96, 97]. The phosphate on the activation loop stabilises the activation loop and phosphorylated turn motif form ionic contacts with a Lys-374 and Arg-415 and this stabilises the catalytic domain. The phosphorylated hydrophobic site is hydrogen bonded to a conserved glutamine and there are also several hydrogen bonds anchoring the hydrophobic motif to the catalytic domain [96]. The intramolecular interaction between the phosphorylated hydrophobic site and a hydrophobic pocket in the catalytic domain is further demonstrated in several AGC kinases [106].

Neuroblastoma

Neuroblastoma is the most common extracranial tumour among children and is responsible for approximately 15% of all childhood cancer deaths. The tumour originates from sympathetic progenitor cells derived from the neural crest and arise at locations of the sympathetic nervous system, typically the adrenal medulla [152]. Neuroblastoma is a heterogeneous disease. Some tumours are aggressive and do not respond to therapy, whereas others regress spontaneously. Tumour stage and the site where the primary tumour is located are important prognostic factors for neuroblastoma and a primary tumour in the adrenal medulla is associated with worse outcome. Furthermore, the age at diagnosis is important and in general children less than 1 year when diagnosed have a good prognosis. Different genetic changes have been shown to be important in the prognosis of neuroblastoma. Amplification of MYCN, deletion of the short arm of chromosome 1 and gain of the long arm of chromosome 17 are associated with unfavourable prognosis.

The neutrophin receptor TrkA, which is involved in the development of the nervous system, is highly expressed in favourable tumours. High expression of TrkA is connected to young age, absence of *MYCN* amplification and good outcome whereas high expression of TrkB is correlated with poor prognosis [153]. Metastases are commonly found in neuroblastomas at the time of diagnosis and are associated with unfavourable outcome [154].

Migration

A major problem in curing cancer is the capacity of cancer cells to migrate, invade tissues and subsequently seed metastases in other organs. Cell migration contributes to several pathological processes including vascular and chronic inflammatory disease and cancer but it also plays an important role in a variety of biological phenomena like embryonic morphogenesis and tissue repair [155]. In metastasis, tumour cells migrate into the circulatory system, which they subsequently leave and migrate into a new site [156] and the ability to form metastases is the cause of 90% of human cancer deaths [157].

General aspects of migration

Migration is a multistep process that starts with formation of membrane protrusions at the leading edge, which attach to the extracellular matrix (ECM). Regions of the leading edge or the entire cell body contract, thereby generating traction force that leads to the gradual gliding of the cell body [158].

Formation of membrane protrusions and focal contact assembly

The initial step in migration is formation of membrane protrusions and a polarised asymmetric morphology which is driven by actin polymerisation [159]. This is regulated by the Rho family of GTPases, including Rac that regulates the formation of lamellipodia and Cdc42 that induces the formation of filopodia [160, 161]. Growing cell protrusions then attach to the ECM and form focal contacts, large multiprotein complexes that consist of integrins, signalling proteins and growth factor receptors [162]. Focal contacts are dynamic in assembly and composition and can mediate dynamic cell behaviour resulting in forward movement or stable arrest [163]. The interactions with the ECM are mediated via integrins, which are transmembrane ECM receptors



FIGURE 3. Proteins involved in migration. Integrins cluster in the membrane when binding the ECM and via their intracellular domain different signalling and adaptor proteins are recruited forming a focal contact. FAK and Src can mediate signalling via Erk and Rho GTPases resulting in changes in the cytoskeleton and focal contacts that affects the cell motility. Modified from Carragher et al. 2004

comprised of α and β subunits. When integrins come into contact with ECM ligands they change conformation and cluster in the cell membrane [164, 165]. Via their intracellular domain different proteins are recruited to the focal contacts and adaptor proteins like focal adhesion kinase (FAK), paxillin and vinculin connect integrins to the filamentous actin cytoskeleton thereby forming a focal contact [164, 166]. Autophosphorylation of FAK facilitates binding of Src, leads to further phosphorylation of FAK and recruitment of additional structural and signalling molecules that contribute to the assembly of focal complexes [167]. After ECM binding, integrins cause phosphorylation and dephosphorylation events of regulatory molecules in downstream signalling cascades [164]. A tumour cell needs to be able to degrade ECM components to invade the surrounding tissues and focal contacts facilitate the recruitment of surface proteases which cleave ECM proteins [158].

Cell movement

In order for the cell to move it needs to change shape and create tension through actin contractility mediated by myosin II. Active myosin II binds to actin filaments and generates actomyosin contractions that allow the cell to move forward [168, 169]. Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase (Erk) activity stimulates myosin light-chain kinase (MLCK) phosphorylation of the myosin light chain (MLC) which activates myosin II [170, 171]. In addition to a contracting force, focal contact disassembly at the trailing edge is necessary for forward movement of the cell [163] and the disassembly of focal contacts occurs through several mechanisms. Actin binding proteins and severing proteins cause actin filament strand breakage and phosphatases limit the assembly of cytoskeletal proteins [172, 173]. Furthermore, focal adhesion proteins like integrins can be cleaved by calpains [174, 175]. Following focal contact disassembly and forward movement integrins detach from the substrate and become internalised in vesicles for recycling towards the leading edge to be able to form new adhesions [176]. Figure 3 summarises the assembly of focal contacts and its downstream signalling.

Migration and neuroblastoma

Metastases are found in 70% of neuroblastoma patients at the time of diagnosis [154] and are indicative of a poor prognosis. The most frequent metastatic sites are bone, bone marrow, and liver [177]. The mechanisms determining the migratory capacity of neuroblastoma cells are not fully understood but several studies report that growth factors as well as integrins are important for a migratory phenotype.

PDGF

Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) is a mitogen that has been shown to induce chemotaxis and actin reorganisation [178] and PDGF has been shown to be a potent promoter of migration and invasion of SH-SY5Y cells [179]. The effect of PDGF on migration can be modulated by somatostatin which is a peptide that is distributed throughout the central nervous system and peripheral tissues. It has been suggested that expression of somatostatin receptors is a favourable prognostic factor in neuroblastoma [180]. Somatostatin inhibits PDGF-induced migration and invasion of SH-SY5Y cells via a mechanism that depends partly on Erk inhibition and partly on inhibition of Rac [179].

IGF-I

Insulin growth factor-I (IGF-I) is another potent stimulator of neuroblastoma cell motility [181, 182] and invasion [183] and highly tumourigenic neuroblastoma cells often express increased levels of IGF receptor type I (IGF-IR). Bones contain high levels of IGF-I and these increased levels might be an explanation why bone is the primary site of neuroblastoma metastasis [182, 184, 185]. IGF-I has been shown to increase motility in neuroblastoma cells by stimulating dynamic changes in cell morphology leading to larger lamellipodia in SH-SY5Y cells [182, 186]. Rac is a Rho GTPase, and when bound to GTP it stimulates the formation of lamellipodia via actin polymerisation [187]. IGF-I activates Rac in SH-SY5Y in a time course consistent with observed changes in actin polymerisation and cell morphology suggesting a role for Rac in IGF-mediated lamellipodial extensions. Furthermore, it has been shown that Rac activation by IGF-I is dependent upon PI3K signalling [188] and it has also been suggested that both the PI3K- and the Erk pathway attenuate IGF-I-mediated motility. However, simultaneously inhibition of these pathways does not completely suppress the motility suggesting that IGF-I activates other pathways, including PKC [189] and STATs [190] that may be involved in regulating the motility response [182].

Integrins

In addition to growth factors, integrins have been shown to be involved in migration and invasion of neuroblastoma cells [191]. Primary tumours with good prognosis express several β 1 integrin heterodimers and *in vitro*, the expression of β 1 integrin protein in neuroblastoma cell lines correlates with attached cells [191, 192]. Conversely, tumours with poor prognosis lack integrins with β 1 subunits due to increased degradation [191-193]. Neuroblastoma cells with decreased integrin expression have abnormal integrin-mediated signalling and are less adherent to fibronectin [191, 194]. Highly aggressive tumours commonly have *MYCN* amplification and several studies have shown that expression of N-myc in neuroblastoma cells decreases β 1 integrin expression [192, 193].

It has been suggested that $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin occupancy is required for IGF-IR-mediated migration [195]. In addition, neuroblastoma cells with high IGF-IR levels also have high expression of $\beta3$ integrins and this may contribute to increased cell migration [191].

PKC and migration

PKC isoforms involved in migration

PKC has long been suggested to play an important role in cell motility through its effects on the actin cytoskeleton and activation of PKC has been shown to induce cell spreading and ruffling [196, 197] and dismantling of stress fibres [197, 198]. Furthermore, PKC can mediate morphological changes both upstream and downstream of integrins. There does not seem to be a particular PKC isoform regulating migration but rather it seems like many isoforms have the capacity to influence migration and which isoform that is involved is cell type dependent [199].

Elevated levels of PKCa have been shown to induce motility of a variety of cell lines including the breast cancer cell lines MDA-MB-435 [200], MCF-10A [201] and MCF-7 [202], colon carcinoma cells [203] and endothelial cells [204]. Furthermore, inhibiting PKCa with a dominant-negative approach reduces migration of melanoma cells [205] whereas down-regulation of PKCa with antisense oligonucleotides results in decreased spreading of vascular smooth muscle cells [206] and decreased migration and adhesion of endothelial cells [207]. Overexpression of PKCBII increases invasion of colon cancer cells [208] while expression of PKCBI in non-motile PKCBI deficient cells restores their locomotory behaviour [209]. Moreover, inhibition of PKCβ blocks spreading of platelets on fibrinogen [210]. Activation of PKCS is important for EGFinduced fibroblast motility [211] while inhibition of PKCS completely inhibits PDGF-stimulated dermal fibroblast migration [212]. PKCe has been shown to be necessary for hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)stimulated motility in HeLa cells [213] and for cellular movement on fibronectin [214] and activation of PKCE enhances the motility of glioma cells through increased focal adhesion formation and integrin clustering [215]. In addition, activated PKCe rescues cell spreading in fibroblasts devoid of B1 integrin signalling [216]. Furthermore, inhibiting PKCe with siRNA in highly motile head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell lines [217] and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells [218] reduces invasion.

Several PKC isoforms have also been shown to negatively regulate motility and PKCa activation inhibits EGF-induced cell spreading of MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells [219]. Contrasting other studies [202, 220, 221] overexpression of PKCa and PKC β I in MCF-7 breast cancer cells has been shown to induce a less aggressive phenotype that is less invasive [222]. Downregulation of PKC δ enhances cell migration and increases secretion of matrix metalloproteases in MCF-7 cells [223] and high PKC δ activity inhibits migration of smooth muscle cells [224].

PKC and integrins

Integrins are a family of heterodimeric transmembrane receptors that mediate the binding of the cell with the ECM and PKC has been shown to control integrin localisation and transduction of integrin signals. PKC can both be activated by integrins (outside-in signalling) and itself activate integrins (inside-out signalling) [225]. There are several reports that PKC and integrins associate and co-localise. In particular PKCe [214, 215, 226] and PKCa [64, 202] have been demonstrated to associate with β 1 integrin but it has also been shown that PKC β and β 3 integrin interact [210]. Some of these interactions are indirect and are dependent on association with RACK1 [210, 215, 227].

An important function of PKC is to regulate the transport and distribution of integrins. PKCa seems to have a role in internalisation of integrins [114, 202] as well as inducing relocation of integrins to the leading edge [64, 228]. Moreover, PKCe has been shown to control the recycling of β 1 integrin to the plasma membrane by phosphorylation of cytoskeletal components [229].

PKC substrates

There are several PKC substrates that have been shown to directly influence the morphology of the actin cytoskeleton and contribute to PKC-induced spreading and migration [199]. Myristoylated alanine-rich C kinase substrate (MARCKS) is a membrane protein and has in many studies been suggested to be a crucial mediator of PKC effects on the actin cytoskeleton. Phosphorylation of MARCKS in its effector domain results in a dissociation of MARCKS from the membrane [230]. There are indications that MARCKS exerts its functions by sequestering PIP2 and a release of MARCKS

- Background -

from the membrane would then lead to an increase in available PIP2 leading to a reorganisation of the cortical microfilaments [231]. In addition, MARCKS binds F-actin and its dissociation from the membrane could thereby influence the cortical cytoskeleton [232, 233].

The ezrin-radixin-moesin (ERM) proteins both function as connectors of the microfilaments with the plasma membrane as well as transducing signals to different pathways [199]. PKCa has been shown to bind to and phosphorylate a threonine residue in ezrin and overexpression of a non-phosphorylated mutant suppresses migration in PKCα-overexpressing cells [234]. Moreover, PKCθ has been shown to phosphorylate the corresponding threonine residue in moesin [235] with a consequent increased interaction with cortical microfilaments [236]. The activation of ERM proteins might therefore be an important pathway in mediating PKC effects on migration.

Fascin is a protein that tightly bundles F-actin and is important for the formation of actin-based protrusions. It is suggested that PKC α phosphorylation of fascin leads to dissociation of fascin from the F-actin bundles and this is likely of importance for cell spreading [39, 237]. Another PKC substrate that affect the actin cytoskeleton is the multi-domain protein AFAP-110 that can cross-link F-actin and bind to and activate Src. Phosphorylation by PKC disrupts its multimerisation [238] and makes it able to activate Src which seems to be important for the formation of podosomes [239].

The present investigation

Aim

The general aims of this study have been to investigate the regulation of classical PKC isoforms and how PKC influences the migratory behaviour of neuroblastoma cells.

The specific aims were:

- To investigate how PKCα can be specifically regulated
- To identify possible intramolecular interactions in PKCα
- To investigate the role of PKC in migration of neuroblastoma cells
- To clarify mechanisms mediating the effects of PKC on migration

Results and discussion

Previous results from our group show that PKCa is transiently translocated to the plasma membrane by carbachol stimulation of neuroblastoma cells. This is induced by an increase in Ca²⁺ and PKCa is not sensitive to stimulation with DAG. Deletion of the catalytic domain makes PKCa sensitive to DAG indicating that structures in this domain contribute to the unresponsiveness [117].

Stimulation with carbachol induces a sustained translocation of catalytically inactive PKCα (Paper I)

In paper I we continued this study by investigating if and how the kinase activity and autophosphorylation contribute to the regulation of the translocation of PKCa. For this purpose we stimulated living SK-N-BE(2)C neuroblastoma cells transfected with vectors encoding PKC fused to enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) and visualised the translocation by confocal microscopy. EGFP is frequently used as a fluorescent reporter molecule and fusing EGFP to the C-terminus of PKC does not influence the subcellular localisation of a number of different PKC isforms in SK-N-BE(2)C cells [117]. We first investigated whether catalytic activity of PKC influences translocation to the plasma membrane. Cells overexpressing PKCaWT were pretreated with the general PKC inhibitor GF109203X before stimulation with carbachol and this induced a sustained translocation of PKCa to the plasma membrane. Furthermore, kinase-dead PKCa also responded with a sustained translocation to the plasma membrane indicating that inhibition of the catalytic activity abolishes relocation to the cytosol. Kinase-inhibition

was also shown to induce a sustained translocation of PKC β I, PKC β II and PKC δ suggesting that a prolonging of translocation by kinase inhibition is an effect common for several PKC isoforms.

Autophosphorylation is not a mechanism for dissociation of PKCα from the membrane (Paper I)

Other studies have demonstrated that kinase activity is necessary for PKC to relocate to the cytosol and it has been suggested that autophosphorylation of PKC is essential for the membrane dissociation thereby providing a mechanism to turn off the PKC signal [116, 119]. To test if the sustained translocation obtained for catalytically inactive PKCa was due to absent autophosphorylation the turn motif (T638) and the hydrophobic site (S657) were mutated to glutamate or alanine to mimic phosphorylated or non-phosphorylated PKCa, respectively. Stimulation with carbachol induced a transient translocation of glutamate mutants whereas non-phosphorylated PKCa remained by the membrane after translocation indicating that autophosphorylation contributes to the transient nature of PKCa translocation. It is common to mutate phosphorylation sites to glutamate or aspartate to mimic the effect of a phosphorylation [89, 92, 94, 95]. However, these mimicking amino acids do not completely induce the same effect as the wild-type protein. For PKCa it has been shown that an acidic residue at the turn motif produces a PKCa mutant with a phenotype intermediate between the wild-type and non-phosphorylated mutant PKCa regarding thermal stability and dephosphorylation [89]. Similar partial effects are seen for mutations at the activation loop of PKCa where the glutamate mutant has reduced activity and the hydrophobic site where an aspartate instead of a serine yields a protein that is not capable to get fully phosphorylated [92]. For PKCβII it has been shown that a glutamate on the hydrophobic site decreases stability of the protein but partially protects PKC from thermal denaturation [95]. Besides influencing the translocation response, autophosphorylation has been suggested to prevent PKC from accumulating in a detergent-insoluble fraction [91, 95]. From confocal images we could however not detect a difference in the localisation of phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated PKCa and both were equally distributed throughout the cytoplasm demonstrating that accumulation of non-phosphorylated PKCa in detergent-insoluble fractions does not cause a changed localisation. Furthermore there are studies showing that nonphosphorylated PKC is more sensitive to dephosphorylation and subsequent degradation [128, 129]. When analysing the expression of non-phosphorylated protein we could however not detect any degradation products of PKCa indicating that the rate of degradation of non-phosphorylated PKCa is slow in neuroblastoma cells.

The previous experiments could have the implication that autophosphorylation of PKC upon its activation by the plasma membrane is a mechanism to cause its relocation to the cytosol. Hannun and coworkers have also demonstrated that catalytically inactive and non-phosphorylated PKC β II remains by the membrane as a response to physiological stimuli. They interpret the results that autophosphorylation is the mechanism for dissociation of PKC from the plasma membrane [116]. If this hypothesis is true, the levels of autophosphorylation would be expected to increase by carbachol stimulation and decrease by GF109203X treatment. We could however not detect any major differences in the levels of autophosphorylated PKC α after stimulation with carbachol and treatment with GF109203X. Moreover, a PKC α mutant mimicking fully phosphorylated PKC α was not desensitised to carbachol stimulation and responded similar to PKC α WT further indicating that autophosphorylation is not a mechanism causing dissociation from the membrane.

Non-phosphorylated PKCa is sensitive to diacylglycerol due to changed conformation (Paper I and II)

Instead of being a mechanism for dissociation of PKCa from the membrane we found that inhibition of catalytic activity and the subsequent reduction of autophosphorylation increased the sensitivity of PKCa for DAG. This contrasts PKCaWT and glutamate mutants which do not respond to stimulation with DAG. We have previously seen that removing the entire catalytic domain of PKCa makes the protein respond to DAG [117] and in paper II we found that deletion of the V5 domain increased the sensitivity of PKCa to DAG, further establishing the importance of the V5 domain in maintaining PKCa insensitive to DAG. These findings led us to hypothesise that the autophosphorylated V5 domain of PKCa is involved in an intramolecular interaction masking the DAG binding C1a domain. When PKCa is not autophosphorylated, on the other hand, this intramolecular interaction would be disrupted and cause a conformational change of the protein. The phosphorylated V5 domain has been suggested to be involved in an intramolecular interaction by binding to the catalytic domain and thereby protect the

PKC against dephosphorylation, degradation and perhaps inactivation [93, 128, 129] and it is possible that this interaction contributes to hiding the C1a domain by causing a conformational change. To investigate a possible difference in conformation cells were transfected with a vector encoding PKCa tagged to a blue fluorescent protein in the N-terminus and a yellow fluorescent protein in the C-terminus and the FRET signal in transfected cells was measured. Cells expressing PKCaWT or the glutmate mutants of PKCa had a higher FRET signal than cells expressing non-phosphorylated PKCa indicating that PKCa has different conformations depending on whether it is phosphorylated or not. The same approach has been used for studying conformational change in PKC δ where ligands binding to the C1 domain increased the FRET signal presumably leading to a more open conformation of the protein [240]. The contrasting results are probably related to the different setups of the regulatory domains of PKCa and PKC δ with the pseudosubstrate placed in the immediate N-terminus of PKCa whereas it is located between the C2 and C1 domains in PKC\delta.

We next tested if isolated V5 constructs of PKCa could disrupt a possible intramolecular interaction by binding to PKCa and thereby induce a more destabilised conformation and an increased sensitivity to DAG. Cotransfecting cells with vectors encoding isolated V5 constructs and PKCaWT increased the sensitivity of PKCa to DAG. However, the autophosphorylation sites of the V5 domain did not need to be negatively charged to increase the DAG sensitivity of PKCa indicating that it is other structures in the V5 domain that are important for disrupting a possible intramolecular interaction.

Non-phosphorylated PKC_βI and PKC_βII are sensitive to DAG

Autophosphorylation of the V5 domain is considered to be a regulatory mechanism for classical PKC isoforms and we investigated whether autophosphorylation influences the DAG sensitivity of PKC β I and PKC β II as well. Contrasting PKC α WT that is completely insensitive to DAG both wildtype PKC β I and PKC β II often translocated to the plasma membrane when stimulated





with DAG. However, similar to non-phosphorylated PKC α , non-phosphorylated PKC β translocated to the membrane in a rapid and sustained manner upon stimulation with DAG. These results indicate that the DAG binding domain is masked in PKC β WT in the same manner as for PKC α . When the autophosphorylation sites are not phosphorylated the DAG binding domain is exposed and PKC β becomes sensitive to DAG. However, there might be some differences in the conformation between PKC α and PKC β considering that PKC β WT is weakly translocates after stimulation with DAG.

There is an intramolecular interaction between acidic residues in the V5 domain and a

lysine-rich cluster in the C2 domain (Paper II) In the next set of experiments we investigated possible intramolecular interactions that could contribute to the insensitivity of PKCa to DAG. Syndecan-4 is a transmembrane heparan sulphate proteoglycan that has a lysine-rich variable region that directly binds to the V5 domain in PKCa and partly activates the enzyme [77]. A conceivable mechanism for this effect is that the lysines interact with acidic residues in the V5 domain and thereby induces a more open conformation of PKCa. We therefore hypothesised that acidic residues in the V5 domain take part in an intramolecular interaction that keeps PKCa in a closed conformation. There are not that many acidic amino acids in the V5 domain but we found a region between the autophosphorylation sites with three acidic amino acids close to each other. These amino acids. D649. D652 and E654, mutated to either alanine or lysine were found to be sensitive to DAG (Fig 4). PIP2 has been shown to both enhance the effect of syndecan-4 on PKCa

[241] and to bind a lysine-rich cluster consisting of K197, K199, K209 and K211 [50, 242] and we hypothesised that the lysinerich cluster in the C2 domain takes part in an intramolecular interaction with the negatively charged part of the V5 domain. Mutation of the four lysines in the C2 domain to glutamates increased the sensitivity to DAG indicating that this part might be involved in an intramolecular interaction hiding the DAG-binding site (Fig 4). It has previously been shown that the lysine-rich cluster in the C2 domain is involved in an intramolecular interaction. Mutation of lysines to alanines converted the enzyme into a constitutively active kinase and abolished the ability of PKCa to translocate to the membrane when stimulated with ionomycin and 1,2-dioctanoylglycerol (DOG). The abrogated translocation was proposed to be due to inability to bind to RACK1 by the membrane or a decreased accessibility of the C1 domain to DAG [49]. We found that stimulation with DOG induces a sustained translocation of the PKCa mutant where the lysines have been mutated to glutamate suggesting an increased accessibility of the C1 domain. However, in 50% of the experiments this mutant did not respond to DAG indicating that these lysines are important for optimal membrane binding. The different effects seen are most likely due to the fact that glutamate is charged and alanine is neutral. Both mutants might disrupt the intramolecular interaction but it is conceivable that the different charges affect PKCa differently. Further confirming an interaction between the charged amino acids in the V5 and C2 domain is the fact that simultaneous introduction of the reversing mutation restores this interaction and increases the sensitivity to DAG. There are several studies demonstrating intramolecular interactions between the C2 and the

V5 domain that keep the PKC in a closed conformation. Part of the RACK1-binding site is located in the V5 domain and it is suggested to bind to the pseudo-RACK sequence in the C2 domain [76]. Furthermore, when the hydrophobic site of PKC β II is phosphorylated there is an increased affinity for Ca²⁺ and it has been suggested that the phosphorylated V5 domain interacts with the C2 domain [95].

GF109203X induces a changed conformation of PKCa (Paper I)

We found that inhibition of the catalytic activity either with a dominant negative PKCa or a PKC inhibitor increased the sensitivity to DAG. The kinase-dead PKCa was not autophosphorylated and this might explain the response to DAG. However, treatment with GF109203X did not reduce the level of autophosphorylation although it potentiated the translocation response. Other studies have shown that GF109203X can induce translocation of PKCa to the membrane fraction [79] and together with TPA increase the membrane localisation of PKCS and PKCE [243]. Furthermore, we found that GF109203X prolonged the translocation of PKCa with the autophosphorylation sites mutated to glutamate and it reversed the relocation to the cytosol once it had occurred. It is therefore likely that GF109203X enhances the translocation of PKCa through other means than by suppression of the autophosphorylation of PKCa. GF109203X is an inhibitor that reduces the catalytic activity of the novel and classical PKCs by binding to the ATP binding site. The ATP binding site is located in a deep cleft between two highly conserved subdomains, the N lobe and the C lobe. Depending on the position of the two lobes kinases can be classified into a

closed, an intermediate and an open conformational state [244]. The crystal structure of the catalytic domain of PKC β II in complex with GF109203X indicates that the PKC β II structure represents an intermediate conformation [96] and it is conceivable that the more open conformation unmasks the C1a domain. Instead of affecting the autophosphorylation of PKC α we propose that the GF109203X destabilises the closed conformation and thereby exposes the C1a domain making it available for interaction with DAG.

Our data show that inhibition of PKCa not only blocks PKC activity but also increases the amount of PKC molecules at the plasma membrane, although it is probably mainly catalytically inactive enzyme. PKC has been shown to exert several effects independently of its kinase activity [245-249] and our group has previously seen that the regulatory domain of PKCe induces neurites in neuroblastoma cells [247]. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that PKC δ induces apoptosis in vascular smooth cells independent of the catalytic domain [248] and that the regulatory domain of PKC θ induces apoptosis in neuroblastoma cells [249]. It is therefore possible that the use of inhibitors and dominant-negative PKC actually potentiates some effects of PKC.

Activation of PKC stimulates migration of neuroblastoma cells (Paper III)

The ability to move is crucial for tumour cells to metastasise and different PKC isoforms have been shown to be involved in migration. To investigate the role of PKC in neuroblastoma cell migration we studied whether activation of PKC could induce cell migration using transwell and scratch assays. We found that stimulating SK-N-BE(2)C neuroblastoma cells with TPA induced migration in both assays. TPA is an activator of novel and classical PKC isoforms but it has also been shown to influence other proteins that can regulate the microfilament morphology [199, 250]. These include chimaerins which are GTPase-activating proteins [251] and the Cdc42 effector myotonic dystrophy kinase-related Cdc42-binding kinase (MRCK) [252] and it is therefore likely that TPA induces effects via these proteins. To investigate whether TPA-mediated migration is dependent on PKC different PKC inhibitors were included together with TPA in the assays. Both the general inhibitor GF109203X and the inhibitor of the classical isforms, Gö6976, markedly reduced TPA-induced migration. To analyse whether the PKC effect is general for neuroblastoma cells we investigated migration of two other neuroblastoma cell lines. Using the transwell assay we found that the MYCN amplified cell line KCN-69c migrated as a response to TPA, an effect that was blocked by GF109203X, while SH-SY5Y cells which lack the MYCN amplification did not respond to TPA. Both SK-N-BE(2)C and KCN-69c carry an MYCN amplification which results in more aggressive tumours. It is possible that the amplification may be associated with the presence of a pathway that transduces a PKC signal to increased motility although a larger panel of neuroblastoma cells need to be examined to draw such a conclusion. SH-SY5Y cells did not increase its motility in response to TPA indicating that activation of PKC is not sufficient to drive migration of these cells. This is however not due to poor migratory capacity of these cells since they have been shown to migrate in response to other stimuli like PDGF and IGF-I [179, 182, 191]. Furthermore, in terms of PKC effects SH-SY5Y cells are unique in that they differentiate upon treatment with TPA

[253] and this might explain why they do not migrate upon PKC activation.

Cell migration can either be direct movement towards a stimulus, chemotaxis, or random, chemokinesis. In the transwell assay the chemoattractant is added to the lower wells and by time an equilibrium between the upper and the lower compartments is formed. In the transwell assay cells were allowed to migrate for 6 hours and it is likely a combination of chemotactic and chemokinetic effects. However, in the scratch assay there is no direct migration towards a stimulus and the increased migration is due to chemokinetic effects.

There are several studies suggesting that the closure of the cell-free area in the scratch assay is a combination of cell migration and proliferation [254]. We did not investigate proliferation in the scratch assay but considering that SK-N-BE(2)C cells are dividing approximately every 24 hour and the scratch is almost closed in 24 hours proliferation is probably not the main mechanism. Further supporting cell migration as the main mechanism in closing the scratch is the migratory phenotype observed with extended protrusions of cells migrating into the scratch.

PKC_ɛ is the isoform driving

migration (Paper III)

Neuroblastoma cells generally express PKCa, PKC β II, PKC δ and PKC ϵ [255] and to elucidate which isoform that is promoting TPA-induced migration we used siRNA to knock down the levels of different PKC isoforms. Downregulation of PKC ϵ with siRNA markedly decreased migration demonstrated in both transwell and scratch assays. The effect was further confirmed by using two other siRNA nucleotides against PKC ϵ . We could not completely inhibit the

levels of PKCe and this might explain why the migration was not reduced more. It is possible that even more suppressive effects could be obtained if PKCE could be depleted from the cells. A role of PKCE is in line with the inhibitory effect of the general PKC inhibitor GF109203X on TPA-induced migration. However, in contrast to PKCE treatment with siRNA, the kinase inhibitor did not affect migration under basal conditions. Since PKCE has been shown to induce morphological effects independently of its kinase activity it is possible that some of the promigratory effects of PKCE may be exerted independently of its catalytic activity [247, 256].

Downstream targets (Paper III)

The PI3K pathway and the Erk pathway have previously been shown to regulate migration of neuroblastoma cells [179]. PKCE has been shown to activate Erk at focal adhesions and this induces glioma cell adhesion and motility [257]. Furthermore, PKCe targets Erk to focal complexes during HGF-mediated cell movement [213]. Since both of these events are mediated via PKCE we hypothesised that the Erk pathway was involved in migration of SK-N-BE(2)C cells. We could however not detect a critical role of Erk in the PKCE-mediated migration of neuroblastoma cells. The MEK inhibitor, PD98059, suppressed TPA-mediated migration in the scratch assay but had no effect in the transwell assay and downregulation of PKCe did not influence TPAstimulated Erk phosphorylation. These results indicated that the Erk pathway is not a downstream target of PKCE.

In addition to regulating other signalling proteins, PKC can more directly regulate the cytoskeleton by phosphorylating several proteins, such as MARCKS and ERM proteins [234, 258]. MARCKS is a membranebound PKC substrate that can be phosphorylated by classical and novel PKC isoforms and has in many studies been suggested to be a crucial mediator of PKC effects on the actin cytoskeleton. Stimulation with TPA induced phosphorylation of MARCKS and this was suppressed by PKC inhibitors, which is in line with a role for MARCKS in PKC-mediated motility of neuroblastoma cells. MARCKS has been suggested to be involved in PKC-mediated motility of several other cell types [211, 259, 260] and our data further support the general importance of this pathway. However, downregulation of any of the isoforms PKCa, PKCδ or PKCε did not alter the phosphorylation of MARCKS. Since downregulation of PKCe suppresses migration it does not seem as if MARCKS is a downstream target for PKCe-mediated migration even though it might be involved in TPA-induced migration. These results also indicate that several PKC isoforms phosphorylate MARCKS in SK-N-BE(2)C neuroblastoma cells. The ERM proteins have been shown to transduce signals to different pathways as well as function as connectors of the microfilaments with the plasma membrane [199]. Since ezrin and moesin have been shown to be phosphorylated by PKC [234, 235] we investigated a possible role of ERM proteins in TPA-mediated migration. However, stimulation with TPA did not induce a difference in phosphorylation of ERM proteins (not shown).

PKC has also been shown to mediate its function on migration via other pathways. Integrins are surface molecules that mediate the binding of the cell to the ECM and PKC has been shown to function both upstream and downstream of integrins. PKC ε has in many reports been suggested to associate and co-localise with β 1 integrin [214, 229] and in some studies this has been shown

- Regulation of PKC α and the role of PKC in neuroblastoma cell migration -

to be mediated by the scaffolding protein RACK1 [210, 215]. We investigated whether PKC ϵ , β 1 integrin and RACK1 associated in SK-N-BE(2) neuroblastoma cells after activation of PKC (not shown). We could however not detect an interaction between any of the proteins indicting that this is not a down-stream pathway in PKC ϵ -mediated migration.

- The present investigation -

Conclusions

- When PKCα is not autophosphorylated it becomes sensitive to DAG
- Treatment with the PKC inhibitor GF109203X makes PKC α sensitive to DAG probably due to a conformational change
- Mutation of acidic amino acids in the V5 domain or a lysine-rich cluster in the C2 domain of PKCα increases the sensitivity to DAG perhaps by disrupting an intramolecular interaction between the C2 and the V5 domain
- PKCɛ induces migration of neuroblastoma cells
- Several PKC isoforms phosphorylate MARCKS in neuroblastoma cells

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Människokroppen består av 50-60 biljoner celler och det är de som bygger upp kroppens organ. För att kunna svara på och anpassa sig till förändringar i sin omgivning krävs att cellerna kommunicerar med varandra. I cellen finns komplexa nätverk som vidarebefordrar signaler inom cellen som svar på yttre faktorer. Fel i signaleringen kan be upphov till olika sjukdomar som tex cancer.

Proteiner är komplexa ämnen som utgör en av huvudbeståndsdelarna i allt levande material. I cellen finns många proteiner som när de för tillfället inte behövs befinner sig i en inaktiv form. Det betyder att de inte kan skicka signaler i cellen. När det behövs, aktiveras proteinet tex genom att en signal utifrån signalerar in i cellen. En typ av protein som påskyndar biokemiska reaktioner kallas för enzymer. Enzymer spelar en betydande roll för signalering i celler genom att aktivera och inhibera olika signalvägar. Utan denna reglering skulle det bli kaos i cellen. Proteinkinaser är en grupp enzym som påskyndar fosforylering av proteiner. Med fosforylering menas att det sätts på en fosfatgrupp på en aminosyra i proteinet. Det leder till att proteinet antingen aktiveras eller inaktiveras. På så sätt kan proteinkinaset reglera att signaler som kan ge upphov till olika svar, skickas vidare i cellen. Proteinfosforylering är en mycket viktig signaleringsmekanism i cellen.

Proteinkinas C (PKC) består av 10 olika medlemmar, sk isoformer. De olika isoformerna finns på olika ställen i cellen och beroende på vilken isoform som aktiveras svarar cellen på olika sätt. När PKC är inaktivt finns det i den sk cytoplasman som är en vätska inne i cellen.

När PKC däremot är aktivt kan det förflytta sig till andra delar av cellen. För att PKC ska bli aktivt krävs att det fosforylerar sig själv, sk autofosforylering. PKC har tre viktiga platser som behöver fosforyleras för att proteinet själv ska kunna bli aktivt. Förutom att PKC måste autofosforyleras krävs att det finns kalcium och diacylglycerol i cellen för att PKC ska bli aktivt. Kalcium är en positivt laddad jon och diacylglycerol är ett fett som finns i cellmembranet. Signaler utifrån kan leda till att nivåerna av kalcium och diacylglycerol i cellen ökar. Kalcium och diacylglycerol binder till olika delar, eller domäner, av PKC. Kalcium binder till C2 domänen och diacylglycerol till C1 domänen. När PKC har fosforylerats och det finns kalcium och diacylglycerol i cellen kan PKC förflytta sig till cellmembranet. Där ändrar proteinet form och kan aktivera andra protein. Att PKC ändrar form och att det flyttar sig till membranet är viktigt för regleringen av PKC. Är det i en aktiv form hela tiden så kan det ske okontrollerad aktivering av andra proteiner. Likaså är det viktigt att aktivt PKC befinner sig på rätt plats i cellen så det kan aktivera rätt protein.

I delarbete I och II har jag tittat mer i detalj på hur en av PKC isoformerna, PKC α , regleras. Vi har tidigare sett att PKC α kan flytta sig till membranet när det finns höga nivåer av kalcium i cellen. Finns det bara diacylglycerol stannar PKC α i cytoplasman.

I delarbete I har jag funnit att om PKCa är inaktivt så kan det förflytta sig till membranet när det bara finns diacylglycerol i cellen. Vidare fann jag att detsamma gäller när PKCa inte har autofosforylerats. Vi tror att det beror på att när PKCa inte är fosforylerat så har det en mer öppen form. Det innebär att C1 domänen, som binder till diacylglycerol, är mer exponerad och därmed kan binda till diacylglycerol i membranet. Å andra sidan, när PKC α är autofosforylerat får proteinet en mer stängd form. Det gör att C1 domänen är mer gömd och att det även behövs kalcium för att PKC α ska förflytta sig till membranet.

I delarbete II har jag fortsatt att undersöka varför PKCα svarar så dåligt på bara diacylglycerol. Det verkar som den allra yttersta delen på PKCα kan binda till en del i mitten av PKCα. När dessa båda delar är bundna till varandra kan PKCα inte förflytta sig till membranet när det bara finns diacylglycerol. Om man däremot bryter upp bindningen kan PKCα svara på diacylglycerol. Det beror förmodligen på att proteinet får en mer öppen form och att C1 domänen inte är gömd. Den här typen av kunskap har betydelse för utveckling av substanser som specifikt kan påverka reglering av proteinet.

I delarbete III har jag undersökt om PKC är viktigt för att neuroblastomceller ska kunna förflyttas, migrera, och därmed sprida sig i kroppen. Neuroblastom är en barncancer som uppstår när celler från nervsystemet inte mognar utan fortsätter dela sig okontrollerat. Det är vanligt att tumörer uppstår i binjuremärgen och att dessa sedan sprider sig till andra delar av kroppen och bildar sk metastaser. Jag har funnit att en PKC isoform, PKCe, är viktig för att neuroblastomcellerna ska kunna migrera. Tar man bort PKCe från cellerna så migrerar de mycket långsammare. PKCe skulle alltså kunna vara ett möjligt protein att inhibera för att förhindra att neuroblastomceller sprider sig i kroppen.

Acknowledgements

Jag skulle vilja passa på att tacka några som bidragit till den här avhandlingen och andra som gjort mitt liv roligt under tiden.

Christer som med stor entusiasm guidat mig i PKC-träsket. Tack för uppmuntran och hjälp att tänka om när allt från enskilda experiment till hela projekt havererat. Särskilt tack för all hjälp med manusskrivande och korrekturläsande under de lätt hektiska sista månaderna.

Alla före detta och nuvarande medlemmar av PKC-gruppen som har gjort det ibland rätt tålamodsprövande arbetet med PKC mycket roligare och tack för trevligt sällskap på gruppmöten och konferenser. Tack Lovisa för att du har blivit en sådan bra vän även utanför labbet, även om jag inte tror att vi tycker likadant om någonting.

Alla på gamla Molekylärmedicin och nya Molekylärpatologi som bidragit till att det har varit en sådan trevlig plats att jobba på. Framförallt tack till er som har blivit vänner även i det civila, Jonas, min bättre hälft Erik och mitt ständige restaurangsällskap Alexander.

Tack Sara för helt ovärderlig hjälp med allt layout-relaterat arbete. Om du någon gång behöver ha något labbat så lovar jag att ställa upp direkt... Men framförallt, tack för att du är en sån fin vän som jag alltid har roligt med! Jag tror inte det är en slump att flera Top 100 tillfällen har varit i ditt sällskap.

Mina fruar; Kristina, Sofia och Josefin. Tack för allt från roliga resor och förvirrade utflykter till lugna hemmakvällar. Ni lagar alla fantastisk mat, peppar mig när jag är sur, är roligt sällskap både vid hängiga och festliga tillfällen och har visat er ha oanade talanger i att ordna överraskningsfest.

Min familj, som i varierande grad har försökt förstå vad jag sysslat med de senaste åren. Farmor och Mormor som alltid är på min sida. Johanna för att du är grym på att styra upp saker och fungerar som konsult i allt möjligt jag tar mig för. Martin för att du alltid är rolig att umgås med när vi väl är på samma ställe och att du ger mig möjlighet att komma och hälsa på var du nu råkar befinna dig i världen. Mamma och Pappa för att ni alltid har uppmuntrat beslut, stöttat mig och låtit mig gå min egen väg.

Alla mina vänner. Jag tänker inte rada upp en massa namn för då glömmer jag säkert nån, men alla som känner sig träffade ska veta att ni gör mitt liv mycket roligare.

This work was supported by the Swedish Cancer Society; the Children's Cancer Foundation of Sweden; the Swedish Research Council; the Royal Physiographic Society of Lund; the Crafoord; Magnus Bergwall; Gunnar, Arvid and Elisabeth Nilsson; Ollie and Elof Ericsson; John and Augusta Persson Foundations and Greta and Johan Kock Foundations, and Malmö University Hospital Research Funds

References

- 1 Newton, A. C. and Johnson, J. E. (1998) Protein kinase C: a paradigm for regulation of protein function by two membrane-targeting modules. Biochim Biophys Acta **1376**, 155-172
- 2 Mellor, H. and Parker, P. J. (1998) The extended protein kinase C superfamily. Biochem J **332** (Pt 2), 281-292
- 3 Coussens, L., Rhee, L., Parker, P. J. and Ullrich, A. (1987) Alternative splicing increases the diversity of the human protein kinase C family. Dna **6**, 389-394
- 4 Berridge, M. J. (1993) Cell signalling. A tale of two messengers. Nature 365, 388-389
- 5 Stasek, J. E., Jr., Natarajan, V. and Garcia, J. G. (1993) Phosphatidic acid directly activates endothelial cell protein kinase C. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **191**, 134-141
- 6 Nishizuka, Y. (1995) Protein kinase C and lipid signaling for sustained cellular responses. Faseb J 9, 484-496
- 7 Nishizuka, Y. (1992) Intracellular signaling by hydrolysis of phospholipids and activation of protein kinase C. Science 258, 607-614
- 8 Nishizuka, Y. (1988) The molecular heterogeneity of protein kinase C and its implications for cellular regulation. Nature 334, 661-665
- Akita, Y. (2002) Protein kinase Cε (PKCε): its unique structure and function. J Biochem (Tokyo) 132, 847-852
- 10 Saito, N. and Shirai, Y. (2002) Protein kinase Cγ (PKCγ): function of neuron specific isotype. J Biochem (Tokyo) 132, 683-687
- Altman, A. and Villalba, M. (2002) Protein kinase Cθ (PKCθ): a key enzyme in T cell life and death. J Biochem (Tokyo) 132, 841-846
- 12 Liu, J. P. (1996) Protein kinase C and its substrates. Mol Cell Endocrinol 116, 1-29
- 13 Pears, C. J., Kour, G., House, C., Kemp, B. E. and Parker, P. J. (1990) Mutagenesis of the pseudosubstrate site of protein kinase C leads to activation. Eur J Biochem 194, 89-94
- 14 House, C. and Kemp, B. E. (1987) Protein kinase C contains a pseudosubstrate prototope in its regulatory domain. Science 238, 1726-1728
- 15 Orr, J. W. and Newton, A. C. (1994) Requirement for negative charge on "activation loop" of protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 269, 27715-27718

- References -

- 16 Newton, A. C. (1995) Protein kinase C: structure, function, and regulation. J Biol Chem 270, 28495-28498
- 17 Mosior, M. and McLaughlin, S. (1991) Peptides that mimic the pseudosubstrate region of protein kinase C bind to acidic lipids in membranes. Biophys J **60**, 149-159
- 18 Staudinger, J., Lu, J. and Olson, E. N. (1997) Specific interaction of the PDZ domain protein PICK1 with the COOH terminus of protein kinase C-α. J Biol Chem 272, 32019-32024
- 19 Leitges, M., Kovac, J., Plomann, M. and Linden, D. J. (2004) A unique PDZ ligand in PKCα confers induction of cerebellar long-term synaptic depression. Neuron 44, 585-594
- 20 Hurley, J. H., Newton, A. C., Parker, P. J., Blumberg, P. M. and Nishizuka, Y. (1997) Taxonomy and function of C1 protein kinase C homology domains. Protein Sci **6**, 477-480
- 21 Quest, A. F., Bloomenthal, J., Bardes, E. S. and Bell, R. M. (1992) The regulatory domain of protein kinase C coordinates four atoms of zinc. J Biol Chem **267**, 10193-10197
- 22 Zhang, G., Kazanietz, M. G., Blumberg, P. M. and Hurley, J. H. (1995) Crystal structure of the cys2 activator-binding domain of protein kinase Cδ in complex with phorbol ester. Cell **81**, 917-924
- 23 Wang, S., Kazanietz, M. G., Blumberg, P. M., Marquez, V. E. and Milne, G. W. (1996) Molecular modeling and site-directed mutagenesis studies of a phorbol ester-binding site in protein kinase C. J Med Chem 39, 2541-2553
- 24 Hommel, U., Zurini, M. and Luyten, M. (1994) Solution structure of a cysteine rich domain of rat protein kinase C. Nat Struct Biol 1, 383-387
- 25 Newton, A. C. and Keranen, L. M. (1994) Phosphatidyl-L-serine is necessary for protein kinase C's high-affinity interaction with diacylglycerol-containing membranes. Biochemistry 33, 6651-6658
- 26 Szallasi, Z., Bogi, K., Gohari, S., Biro, T., Acs, P. and Blumberg, P. M. (1996) Non-equivalent roles for the first and second zinc fingers of protein kinase Cδ. Effect of their mutation on phorbol ester-induced translocation in NIH 3T3 cells. J Biol Chem 271, 18299-18301
- 27 Irie, K., Yanai, Y., Oie, K., Ishizawa, J., Nakagawa, Y., Ohigashi, H., Wender, P. A. and Kikkawa, U. (1997) Comparison of chemical characteristics of the first and the second cysteine-rich domains of protein kinase Cγ. Bioorg Med Chem 5, 1725-1737
- 28 Slater, S. J., Ho, C., Kelly, M. B., Larkin, J. D., Taddeo, F. J., Yeager, M. D. and Stubbs, C. D. (1996) Protein kinase Cα contains two activator binding sites that bind phorbol esters and diacylglycerols with opposite affinities. J Biol Chem 271, 4627-4631
- 29 Medkova, M. and Cho, W. (1999) Interplay of C1 and C2 domains of protein kinase C-α in its membrane binding and activation. J Biol Chem 274, 19852-19861
- 30 Bittova, L., Stahelin, R. V. and Cho, W. (2001) Roles of ionic residues of the C1 domain in protein kinase C-α activation and the origin of phosphatidylserine specificity. J Biol Chem 276, 4218-4226
- 31 Stahelin, R. V., Wang, J., Blatner, N. R., Rafter, J. D., Murray, D. and Cho, W. (2005) The Origin of C1A-C2 Interdomain Interactions in Protein Kinase Ca. J Biol Chem 280, 36452-36463
- 32 Stahelin, R. V., Digman, M. A., Medkova, M., Ananthanarayanan, B., Rafter, J. D., Melowic, H. R. and Cho, W. (2004) Mechanism of diacylglycerol-induced membrane targeting and activation of protein kinase Cô. J Biol Chem 279, 29501-29512
- 33 Bogi, K., Lorenzo, P. S., Szallasi, Z., Acs, P., Wagner, G. S. and Blumberg, P. M. (1998) Differential selectivity of ligands for the C1a and C1b phorbol ester binding domains of protein kinase Cô: possible correlation with tumor-promoting activity. Cancer Res 58, 1423-1428
- 34 Stahelin, R. V., Digman, M. A., Medkova, M., Ananthanarayanan, B., Melowic, H. R., Rafter, J. D. and Cho, W. (2005) Diacylglycerol-induced membrane targeting and activation of protein kinase Cε: mechanistic differences between protein kinases Cδ and Ce. J Biol Chem 280, 19784-19793
- 35 Ananthanarayanan, B., Stahelin, R. V., Digman, M. A. and Cho, W. (2003) Activation mechanisms of conventional protein kinase C isoforms are determined by the ligand affinity and conformational flexibility of their C1 domains. J Biol Chem **278**, 46886-46894
- 36 Giorgione, J. R., Lin, J. H., McCammon, J. A. and Newton, A. C. (2006) Increased membrane affinity of the C1 domain of protein kinase Cδ compensates for the lack of involvement of its C2 domain in membrane recruitment. J Biol Chem 281, 1660-1669
- 37 Nalefski, E. A. and Newton, A. C. (2001) Membrane binding kinetics of protein kinase C βII mediated by the C2 domain. Biochemistry 40, 13216-13229
- 38 Dries, D. R., Gallegos, L. L. and Newton, A. C. (2007) A single residue in the C1 domain sensitizes novel protein kinase C isoforms to cellular diacylglycerol production. J Biol Chem 282, 826-830

- 39 Anilkumar, N., Parsons, M., Monk, R., Ng, T. and Adams, J. C. (2003) Interaction of fascin and protein kinase Ca: a novel intersection in cell adhesion and motility. Embo J 22, 5390-5402
- 40 Nguyen, T. A., Takemoto, L. J. and Takemoto, D. J. (2004) Inhibition of gap junction activity through the release of the C1B domain of protein kinase Cγ (PKCγ) from 14-3-3: identification of PKCγ-binding sites. J Biol Chem 279, 52714-52725
- 41 Xu, R. X., Pawelczyk, T., Xia, T. H. and Brown, S. C. (1997) NMR structure of a protein kinase C-γ phorbol-binding domain and study of protein-lipid micelle interactions. Biochemistry 36, 10709-10717
- 42 Medkova, M. and Cho, W. (1998) Differential membrane-binding and activation mechanisms of protein kinase C-α and -ε. Biochemistry **37**, 4892-4900
- 43 Garcia-Garcia, J., Gomez-Fernandez, J. C. and Corbalan-Garcia, S. (2001) Structural characterization of the C2 domain of novel protein kinase Ce. Eur J Biochem **268**, 1107-1117
- 44 Sutton, R. B., Davletov, B. A., Berghuis, A. M., Sudhof, T. C. and Sprang, S. R. (1995) Structure of the first C2 domain of synaptotagmin I: a novel Ca²⁺/phospholipid-binding fold. Cell 80, 929-938
- 45 Shao, X., Davletov, B. A., Sutton, R. B., Sudhof, T. C. and Rizo, J. (1996) Bipartite Ca²⁺-binding motif in C2 domains of synaptotagmin and protein kinase C. Science **273**, 248-251
- 46 Medkova, M. and Cho, W. (1998) Mutagenesis of the C2 domain of protein kinase C-α. Differential roles of Ca²⁺ ligands and membrane binding residues. J Biol Chem **273**, 17544-17552
- 47 Ochoa, W. F., Garcia-Garcia, J., Fita, I., Corbalan-Garcia, S., Verdaguer, N. and Gomez-Fernandez, J. C. (2001) Structure of the C2 domain from novel protein kinase Cɛ. A membrane binding model for Ca²⁺-independent C2 domains. J Mol Biol **311**, 837-849
- 48 Verdaguer, N., Corbalan-Garcia, S., Ochoa, W. F., Fita, I. and Gomez-Fernandez, J. C. (1999) Ca²⁺ bridges the C2 membrane-binding domain of protein kinase Cα directly to phosphatidylserine. Embo J 18, 6329-6338
- 49 Rodriguez-Alfaro, J. A., Gomez-Fernandez, J. C. and Corbalan-Garcia, S. (2004) Role of the lysine-rich cluster of the C2 domain in the phosphatidylserine-dependent activation of PKCa. J Mol Biol 335, 1117-1129
- 50 Corbalan-Garcia, S., Garcia-Garcia, J., Rodriguez-Alfaro, J. A. and Gomez-Fernandez, J. C. (2003) A new phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate-binding site located in the C2 domain of protein kinase Cα. J Biol Chem 278, 4972-4980
- 51 Mochly-Rosen, D., Miller, K. G., Scheller, R. H., Khaner, H., Lopez, J. and Smith, B. L. (1992) p65 fragments, homologous to the C2 region of protein kinase C, bind to the intracellular receptors for protein kinase C. Biochemistry 31, 8120-8124
- 52 Xu, Z. B., Chaudhary, D., Olland, S., Wolfrom, S., Czerwinski, R., Malakian, K., Lin, L., Stahl, M. L., Joseph-McCarthy, D., Benander, C., Fitz, L., Greco, R., Somers, W. S. and Mosyak, L. (2004) Catalytic domain crystal structure of protein kinase C-0 (PKC0). J Biol Chem 279, 50401-50409
- 53 Ohno, S., Konno, Y., Akita, Y., Yano, A. and Suzuki, K. (1990) A point mutation at the putative ATP-binding site of protein kinase Cα abolishes the kinase activity and renders it downregulation-insensitive. A molecular link between autophosphorylation and down-regulation. J Biol Chem 265, 6296-6300
- 54 Nishikawa, K., Toker, A., Johannes, F. J., Songyang, Z. and Cantley, L. C. (1997) Determination of the specific substrate sequence motifs of protein kinase C isozymes. J Biol Chem 272, 952-960
- Jaken, S. (1996) Protein kinase C isozymes and substrates. Curr Opin Cell Biol 8, 168-173
- 56 Mochly-Rosen, D. (1995) Localization of protein kinases by anchoring proteins: a theme in signal transduction. Science 268, 247-251
- 57 Vallentin, A., Prevostel, C., Fauquier, T., Bonnefont, X. and Joubert, D. (2000) Membrane targeting and cytoplasmic sequestration in the spatiotemporal localization of human protein kinase C α. J Biol Chem 275, 6014-6021
- 58 Oancea, E. and Meyer, T. (1998) Protein kinase C as a molecular machine for decoding calcium and diacylglycerol signals. Cell 95, 307-318
- 59 Sanchez, P., De Carcer, G., Sandoval, I. V., Moscat, J. and Diaz-Meco, M. T. (1998) Localization of atypical protein kinase C isoforms into lysosome-targeted endosomes through interaction with p62. Mol Cell Biol 18, 3069-3080
- 60 Huang, F. L., Yoshida, Y., Cunha-Melo, J. R., Beaven, M. A. and Huang, K. P. (1989) Differential down-regulation of protein kinase C isozymes. J Biol Chem **264**, 4238-4243

- References -

- 61 Kishimoto, A., Kajikawa, N., Shiota, M. and Nishizuka, Y. (1983) Proteolytic activation of calcium-activated, phospholipid-dependent protein kinase by calcium-dependent neutral protease. J Biol Chem 258, 1156-1164
- 62 Lee, M. H. and Bell, R. M. (1986) The lipid binding, regulatory domain of protein kinase C. A 32-kDa fragment contains the calcium- and phosphatidylserine-dependent phorbol diester binding activity. J Biol Chem 261, 14867-14870
- 63 Inoue, M., Kishimoto, A., Takai, Y. and Nishizuka, Y. (1977) Studies on a cyclic nucleotideindependent protein kinase and its proenzyme in mammalian tissues. II. Proenzyme and its activation by calcium-dependent protease from rat brain. J Biol Chem 252, 7610-7616
- 64 Parsons, M., Keppler, M. D., Kline, A., Messent, A., Humphries, M. J., Gilchrist, R., Hart, I. R., Quittau-Prevostel, C., Hughes, W. E., Parker, P. J. and Ng, T. (2002) Site-directed perturbation of protein kinase C- integrin interaction blocks carcinoma cell chemotaxis. Mol Cell Biol 22, 5897-5911
- 65 Quittau-Prevostel, C., Delaunay, N., Collazos, A., Vallentin, A. and Joubert, D. (2004) Targeting of PKCα and ε in the pituitary: a highly regulated mechanism involving a GD(E)E motif of the V3 region. J Cell Sci 117, 63-72
- 66 Alvaro, V., Levy, L., Dubray, C., Roche, A., Peillon, F., Querat, B. and Joubert, D. (1993) Invasive human pituitary tumors express a point-mutated α-protein kinase-C. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 77, 1125-1129
- 67 Prevostel, C., Martin, A., Alvaro, V., Jaffiol, C. and Joubert, D. (1997) Protein kinase Cα and tumorigenesis of the endocrine gland. Horm Res **47**, 140-144
- 68 Zhu, Y., Dong, Q., Tan, B. J., Lim, W. G., Zhou, S. and Duan, W. (2005) The PKCα-D294G mutant found in pituitary and thyroid tumors fails to transduce extracellular signals. Cancer Res 65, 4520-4524
- 69 Newton, A. C. (2001) Protein kinase C: structural and spatial regulation by phosphorylation, cofactors, and macromolecular interactions. Chem Rev **101**, 2353-2364
- Yeong, S. S., Zhu, Y., Smith, D., Verma, C., Lim, W. G., Tan, B. J., Li, Q. T., Cheung, N. S., Cai, M., Zhu, Y. Z., Zhou, S. F., Tan, S. L. and Duan, W. (2006) The last 10 amino acid residues beyond the hydrophobic motif are critical for the catalytic competence and function of protein kinase Ca. J Biol Chem 281, 30768-30781
- 71 Goodnight, J. A., Mischak, H., Kolch, W. and Mushinski, J. F. (1995) Immunocytochemical localization of eight protein kinase C isozymes overexpressed in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. Isoform-specific association with microfilaments, Golgi, endoplasmic reticulum, and nuclear and cell membranes. J Biol Chem 270, 9991-10001
- 72 Blobe, G. C., Stribling, D. S., Fabbro, D., Stabel, S. and Hannun, Y. A. (1996) Protein kinase CβII specifically binds to and is activated by F-actin. J Biol Chem 271, 15823-15830
- 73 Babwah, A. V., Dale, L. B. and Ferguson, S. S. (2003) Protein kinase C isoform-specific differences in the spatial-temporal regulation and decoding of metabotropic glutamate receptor1a-stimulated second messenger responses. J Biol Chem 278, 5419-5426
- 74 Gokmen-Polar, Y. and Fields, A. P. (1998) Mapping of a molecular determinant for protein kinase C βII isozyme function. J Biol Chem 273, 20261-20266
- 75 Svensson, K., Zeidman, R., Troller, U., Schultz, A. and Larsson, C. (2000) Protein kinase Cβ1 is implicated in the regulation of neuroblastoma cell growth and proliferation. Cell Growth Differ 11, 641-648
- 76 Banci, L., Cavallaro, G., Kheifets, V. and Mochly-Rosen, D. (2002) Molecular dynamics characterization of the C2 domain of protein kinase Cβ. J Biol Chem 277, 12988-12997
- 77 Lim, S. T., Longley, R. L., Couchman, J. R. and Woods, A. (2003) Direct binding of syndecan-4 cytoplasmic domain to the catalytic domain of protein kinase Cα (PKCα) increases focal adhesion localization of PKCa. J Biol Chem 278, 13795-13802
- 78 Gao, T., Toker, A. and Newton, A. C. (2001) The carboxyl terminus of protein kinase c provides a switch to regulate its interaction with the phosphoinositide-dependent kinase, PDK-1. J Biol Chem 276, 19588-19596
- 79 Hu, T. and Exton, J. H. (2004) Protein kinase Cα translocates to the perinuclear region to activate phospholipase D1. J Biol Chem 279, 35702-35708
- Gao, T. and Newton, A. C. (2002) The turn motif is a phosphorylation switch that regulates the

binding of Hsp70 to protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 277, 31585-31592

- 81 Lee, Y. J., Lee, D. H., Cho, C. K., Bae, S., Jhon, G. J., Lee, S. J., Soh, J. W. and Lee, Y. S. (2005) HSP25 inhibits protein kinase Cδ-mediated cell death through direct interaction. J Biol Chem 280, 18108-18119
- 82 Yaffe, M. B., Rittinger, K., Volinia, S., Caron, P. R., Aitken, A., Leffers, H., Gamblin, S. J., Smerdon, S. J. and Cantley, L. C. (1997) The structural basis for 14-3-3:phosphopeptide binding specificity. Cell 91, 961-971
- 83 Keranen, L. M., Dutil, E. M. and Newton, A. C. (1995) Protein kinase C is regulated in vivo by three functionally distinct phosphorylations. Curr Biol 5, 1394-1403
- 84 Newton, A. C. (2003) Regulation of the ABC kinases by phosphorylation: protein kinase C as a paradigm. Biochem J 370, 361-371
- 85 Taylor, S. S. and Radzio-Andzelm, E. (1994) Three protein kinase structures define a common motif. Structure **2**, 345-355
- 86 Liu, Y., Belkina, N. V., Graham, C. and Shaw, S. (2006) Independence of protein kinase C-δ activity from activation loop phosphorylation: structural basis and altered functions in cells. J Biol Chem 281, 12102-12111
- 87 Parekh, D. B., Ziegler, W. and Parker, P. J. (2000) Multiple pathways control protein kinase C phosphorylation. Embo J 19, 496-503
- 88 Dutil, E. M., Keranen, L. M., DePaoli-Roach, A. A. and Newton, A. C. (1994) In vivo regulation of protein kinase C by trans-phosphorylation followed by autophosphorylation. J Biol Chem 269, 29359-29362
- 89 Bornancin, F. and Parker, P. J. (1996) Phosphorylation of threonine 638 critically controls the dephosphorylation and inactivation of protein kinase Ca. Curr Biol **6**, 1114-1123
- 90 Zhang, J., Wang, L., Schwartz, J., Bond, R. W. and Bishop, W. R. (1994) Phosphorylation of Thr642 is an early event in the processing of newly synthesized protein kinase Cβ1 and is essential for its activation. J Biol Chem 269, 19578-19584
- 91 Edwards, A. S., Faux, M. C., Scott, J. D. and Newton, A. C. (1999) Carboxyl-terminal phosphorylation regulates the function and subcellular localization of protein kinase C βII. J Biol Chem 274, 6461-6468
- 92 Bornancin, F. and Parker, P. J. (1997) Phosphorylation of protein kinase C-α on serine 657 controls the accumulation of active enzyme and contributes to its phosphatase-resistant state. J Biol Chem 272, 3544-3549
- 93 Gysin, S. and Imber, R. (1997) Phorbol-ester-activated protein kinase C-α lacking phosphorylation at Ser657 is down-regulated by a mechanism involving dephosphorylation. Eur J Biochem 249, 156-160
- 94 Gysin, S. and Imber, R. (1996) Replacement of Ser657 of protein kinase C-α by alanine leads to premature down regulation after phorbol-ester-induced translocation to the membrane. Eur J Biochem 240, 747-750
- 95 Edwards, A. S. and Newton, A. C. (1997) Phosphorylation at conserved carboxyl-terminal hydrophobic motif regulates the catalytic and regulatory domains of protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 272, 18382-18390
- 96 Grodsky, N., Li, Y., Bouzida, D., Love, R., Jensen, J., Nodes, B., Nonomiya, J. and Grant, S. (2006) Structure of the catalytic domain of human protein kinase C β II complexed with a bisindolylmaleimide inhibitor. Biochemistry **45**, 13970-13981
- 97 Srinivasan, N., Bax, B., Blundell, T. L. and Parker, P. J. (1996) Structural aspects of the functional modules in human protein kinase-Cα deduced from comparative analyses. Proteins 26, 217-235
- 98 Biondi, R. M., Cheung, P. C., Casamayor, A., Deak, M., Currie, R. A. and Alessi, D. R. (2000) Identification of a pocket in the PDK1 kinase domain that interacts with PIF and the C-terminal residues of PKA. Embo J 19, 979-988
- 99 Robinson, P. J. (1991) The role of protein kinase C and its neuronal substrates dephosphin, B-50, and MARCKS in neurotransmitter release. Mol Neurobiol 5, 87-130
- 100 Flint, A. J., Paladini, R. D. and Koshland, D. E., Jr. (1990) Autophosphorylation of protein kinase C at three separated regions of its primary sequence. Science **249**, 408-411
- 101 Zhang, J., Wang, L., Petrin, J., Bishop, W. R. and Bond, R. W. (1993) Characterization of site-specific mutants altered at protein kinase C β1 isozyme autophosphorylation sites. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A

90, 6130-6134

- 102 Konishi, H., Tanaka, M., Takemura, Y., Matsuzaki, H., Ono, Y., Kikkawa, U. and Nishizuka, Y. (1997) Activation of protein kinase C by tyrosine phosphorylation in response to H2O2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 11233-11237
- 103 Park, J., Hill, M. M., Hess, D., Brazil, D. P., Hofsteenge, J. and Hemmings, B. A. (2001) Identification of tyrosine phosphorylation sites on 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1 and their role in regulating kinase activity. J Biol Chem 276, 37459-37471
- 104 Newton, A. C. (1997) Regulation of protein kinase C. Curr Opin Cell Biol 9, 161-167
- 105 Dutil, E. M., Toker, A. and Newton, A. C. (1998) Regulation of conventional protein kinase C isozymes by phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK-1). Curr Biol **8**, 1366-1375
- 106 Frödin, M., Antal, T. L., Dummler, B. A., Jensen, C. J., Deak, M., Gammeltoft, S. and Biondi, R. M. (2002) A phosphoserine/threonine-binding pocket in AGC kinases and PDK1 mediates activation by hydrophobic motif phosphorylation. Embo J 21, 5396-5407
- 107 Zhu, Y., Smith, D., Verma, C., Lim, W. G., Tan, B. J., Armstrong, J. S., Zhou, S., Chan, E., Tan, S. L., Zhu, Y. Z., Cheung, N. S. and Duan, W. (2005) The very C-terminus of protein kinase Ce is critical for the full catalytic competence but its hydrophobic motif is dispensable for the interaction with 3-phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1. Cell Signal
- 108 Smith, L. and Smith, J. B. (2002) Lack of constitutive activity of the free kinase domain of protein kinase Cζ. Dependence on transphosphorylation of the activation loop. J Biol Chem 277, 45866-45873
- 109 Feng, X., Becker, K. P., Stribling, S. D., Peters, K. G. and Hannun, Y. A. (2000) Regulation of receptor-mediated protein kinase C membrane trafficking by autophosphorylation. J Biol Chem 275, 17024-17034
- 110 Mochly-Rosen, D. and Koshland, D. E., Jr. (1987) Domain structure and phosphorylation of protein kinase C. J Biol Chem **262**, 2291-2297
- 111 Chen, L. Y., Doerner, A., Lehmann, P. F., Huang, S., Zhong, G. and Pan, Z. K. (2005) A novel protein kinase C (PKC ϵ) is required for fMet-Leu-Phe-induced activation of NF- κ B in human peripheral blood monocytes. J Biol Chem **280**, 22497-22501
- 112 Crotty, T., Cai, J., Sakane, F., Taketomi, A., Prescott, S. M. and Topham, M. K. (2006) Diacylglycerol kinase δ regulates protein kinase C and epidermal growth factor receptor signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 15485-15490
- 113 Lee, J. Y., Hannun, Y. A. and Obeid, L. M. (2000) Functional dichotomy of protein kinase C (PKC) in tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α) signal transduction in L929 cells. Translocation and inactivation of PKC by TNF-α. J Biol Chem 275, 29290-29298
- 114 Upla, P., Marjomaki, V., Kankaanpaa, P., Ivaska, J., Hyypia, T., Van Der Goot, F. G. and Heino, J. (2004) Clustering induces a lateral redistribution of α2β1 integrin from membrane rafts to caveolae and subsequent protein kinase C-dependent internalization. Mol Biol Cell 15, 625-636
- 115 Sivasankaran, R., Pei, J., Wang, K. C., Zhang, Y. P., Shields, C. B., Xu, X. M. and He, Z. (2004) PKC mediates inhibitory effects of myelin and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans on axonal regeneration. Nat Neurosci 7, 261-268
- 116 Feng, X. and Hannun, Y. A. (1998) An essential role for autophosphorylation in the dissociation of activated protein kinase C from the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem **273**, 26870-26874
- 117 Raghunath, A., Ling, M. and Larsson, C. (2003) The catalytic domain limits the translocation of protein kinase Ca in response to increases in Ca²⁺ and diacylglycerol. Biochem J **370**, 901-912
- 118 Shirai, Y. and Saito, N. (2002) Activation mechanisms of protein kinase C: maturation, catalytic activation, and targeting. J Biochem (Tokyo) **132**, 663-668
- 119 Tanimura, A., Nezu, A., Morita, T., Hashimoto, N. and Tojyo, Y. (2002) Interplay between calcium, diacylglycerol, and phosphorylation in the spatial and temporal regulation of PKCα-GFP. J Biol Chem 277, 29054-29062
- 120 Buchner, K., Lindschau, C. and Hucho, F. (1997) Nuclear localization of protein kinase Cα and its association with nuclear components in neuro-2a neuroblastoma cells. FEBS Lett **406**, 61-65
- 121 Ng, T., Squire, A., Hansra, G., Bornancin, F., Prevostel, C., Hanby, A., Harris, W., Barnes, D., Schmidt, S., Mellor, H., Bastiaens, P. I. and Parker, P. J. (1999) Imaging protein kinase Ca activation in cells. Science 283, 2085-2089
- 122 Becker, K. P. and Hannun, Y. A. (2003) cPKC-dependent sequestration of membrane-recycling

components in a subset of recycling endosomes. J Biol Chem 278, 52747-52754

- 123 Jaken, S. and Parker, P. J. (2000) Protein kinase C binding partners. Bioessays 22, 245-254
- 124 Maasch, C., Wagner, S., Lindschau, C., Alexander, G., Buchner, K., Gollasch, M., Luft, F. C. and Haller, H. (2000) Protein kinase Ca targeting is regulated by temporal and spatial changes in intracellular free calcium concentration [Ca²⁺]i. Faseb J 14, 1653-1663
- 125 Lefkowitz, R. J. (1993) G protein-coupled receptor kinases. Cell 74, 409-412
- 126 Feng, X., Zhang, J., Barak, L. S., Meyer, T., Caron, M. G. and Hannun, Y. A. (1998) Visualization of dynamic trafficking of a protein kinase C βII/green fluorescent protein conjugate reveals differences in G protein-coupled receptor activation and desensitization. J Biol Chem 273, 10755-10762
- 127 Olivier, A. R. and Parker, P. J. (1994) Bombesin, platelet-derived growth factor, and diacylglycerol induce selective membrane association and down-regulation of protein kinase C isotypes in Swiss 3T3 cells. J Biol Chem 269, 2758-2763
- 128 Hansra, G., Garcia-Paramio, P., Prevostel, C., Whelan, R. D., Bornancin, F. and Parker, P. J. (1999) Multisite dephosphorylation and desensitization of conventional protein kinase C isotypes. Biochem J 342 (Pt 2), 337-344
- 129 Lee, H. W., Smith, L., Pettit, G. R. and Bingham Smith, J. (1996) Dephosphorylation of activated protein kinase C contributes to downregulation by bryostatin. Am J Physiol **271**, C304-311
- 130 Hansra, G., Bornancin, F., Whelan, R., Hemmings, B. A. and Parker, P. J. (1996) 12-O-Tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate-induced dephosphorylation of protein kinase Ca correlates with the presence of a membrane-associated protein phosphatase 2A heterotrimer. J Biol Chem 271, 32785-32788
- 131 Dutil, E. M. and Newton, A. C. (2000) Dual role of pseudosubstrate in the coordinated regulation of protein kinase C by phosphorylation and diacylglycerol. J Biol Chem **275**, 10697-10701
- 132 Lee, H. W., Smith, L., Pettit, G. R., Vinitsky, A. and Smith, J. B. (1996) Ubiquitination of protein kinase C-α and degradation by the proteasome. J Biol Chem 271, 20973-20976
- 133 Leontieva, O. V. and Black, J. D. (2004) Identification of two distinct pathways of protein kinase Cα down-regulation in intestinal epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 279, 5788-5801
- 134 Prevostel, C., Alice, V., Joubert, D. and Parker, P. J. (2000) Protein kinase Cα actively downregulates through caveolae-dependent traffic to an endosomal compartment. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 14), 2575-2584
- 135 Cenni, V., Doppler, H., Sonnenburg, E. D., Maraldi, N., Newton, A. C. and Toker, A. (2002) Regulation of novel protein kinase C ε by phosphorylation. Biochem J 363, 537-545
- 136 Stempka, L., Schnolzer, M., Radke, S., Rincke, G., Marks, F. and Gschwendt, M. (1999) Requirements of protein kinase cδ for catalytic function. Role of glutamic acid 500 and autophosphorylation on serine 643. J Biol Chem 274, 8886-8892
- 137 Stempka, L., Girod, A., Muller, H. J., Rincke, G., Marks, F., Gschwendt, M. and Bossemeyer, D. (1997) Phosphorylation of protein kinase Cδ (PKCδ) at threonine 505 is not a prerequisite for enzymatic activity. Expression of rat PKCδ and an alanine 505 mutant in bacteria in a functional form. J Biol Chem 272, 6805-6811
- 138 Gschwendt, M. (1999) Protein kinase Cδ. Eur J Biochem **259**, 555-564
- 139 Le Good, J. A., Ziegler, W. H., Parekh, D. B., Alessi, D. R., Cohen, P. and Parker, P. J. (1998) Protein kinase C isotypes controlled by phosphoinositide 3-kinase through the protein kinase PDK1. Science 281, 2042-2045
- 140 Li, W., Zhang, J., Bottaro, D. P. and Pierce, J. H. (1997) Identification of serine 643 of protein kinase C-δ as an important autophosphorylation site for its enzymatic activity. J Biol Chem 272, 24550-24555
- 141 Parekh, D., Ziegler, W., Yonezawa, K., Hara, K. and Parker, P. J. (1999) Mammalian TOR controls one of two kinase pathways acting upon nPKCδ and nPKCε. J Biol Chem 274, 34758-34764
- 142 Ziegler, W. H., Parekh, D. B., Le Good, J. A., Whelan, R. D., Kelly, J. J., Frech, M., Hemmings, B. A. and Parker, P. J. (1999) Rapamycin-sensitive phosphorylation of PKC on a carboxy-terminal site by an atypical PKC complex. Curr Biol **9**, 522-529
- 143 Denning, M. F., Dlugosz, A. A., Howett, M. K. and Yuspa, S. H. (1993) Expression of an oncogenic rasHa gene in murine keratinocytes induces tyrosine phosphorylation and reduced activity of protein kinase C δ. J Biol Chem 268, 26079-26081
- 144 Denning, M. F., Dlugosz, A. A., Threadgill, D. W., Magnuson, T. and Yuspa, S. H. (1996) Activation

of the epidermal growth factor receptor signal transduction pathway stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of protein kinase Cô. J Biol Chem **271**, 5325-5331

- 145 Kaibuchi, K., Fukumoto, Y., Oku, N., Takai, Y., Arai, K. and Muramatsu, M. (1989) Molecular genetic analysis of the regulatory and catalytic domains of protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 264, 13489-13496
- 146 Slater, S. J., Seiz, J. L., Cook, A. C., Buzas, C. J., Malinowski, S. A., Kershner, J. L., Stagliano, B. A. and Stubbs, C. D. (2002) Regulation of PKCa activity by C1-C2 domain interactions. J Biol Chem 277, 15277-15285
- 147 Stebbins, E. G. and Mochly-Rosen, D. (2001) Binding specificity for RACK1 resides in the V5 region of βII protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 276, 29644-29650
- 148 Dorn, G. W., 2nd, Souroujon, M. C., Liron, T., Chen, C. H., Gray, M. O., Zhou, H. Z., Csukai, M., Wu, G., Lorenz, J. N. and Mochly-Rosen, D. (1999) Sustained in vivo cardiac protection by a rationally designed peptide that causes ε protein kinase C translocation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 12798-12803
- 149 Schechtman, D., Craske, M. L., Kheifets, V., Meyer, T., Schechtman, J. and Mochly-Rosen, D. (2004) A critical intramolecular interaction for protein kinase Ce translocation. J Biol Chem 279, 15831-15840
- 150 Ron, D., Luo, J. and Mochly-Rosen, D. (1995) C2 region-derived peptides inhibit translocation and function of β protein kinase C in vivo. J Biol Chem 270, 24180-24187
- 151 Ron, D. and Mochly-Rosen, D. (1995) An autoregulatory region in protein kinase C: the pseudoanchoring site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **92**, 492-496
- 152 Brodeur, G. M. (2003) Neuroblastoma: biological insights into a clinical enigma. Nat Rev Cancer 3, 203-216
- 153 Nakagawara, A., Arima-Nakagawara, M., Scavarda, N. J., Azar, C. G., Cantor, A. B. and Brodeur, G. M. (1993) Association between high levels of expression of the TRK gene and favorable outcome in human neuroblastoma. N Engl J Med 328, 847-854
- 154 Ara, T. and DeClerck, Y. A. (2006) Mechanisms of invasion and metastasis in human neuroblastoma. Cancer Metastasis Rev 25, 645-657
- 155 Ridley, A. J., Schwartz, M. A., Burridge, K., Firtel, R. A., Ginsberg, M. H., Borisy, G., Parsons, J. T. and Horwitz, A. R. (2003) Cell migration: integrating signals from front to back. Science **302**, 1704-1709
- 156 Lauffenburger, D. A. and Horwitz, A. F. (1996) Cell migration: a physically integrated molecular process. Cell 84, 359-369
- 157 Sporn, M. B. (1996) The war on cancer. Lancet 347, 1377-1381
- 158 Friedl, P. and Wolf, K. (2003) Tumour-cell invasion and migration: diversity and escape mechanisms. Nat Rev Cancer **3**, 362-374
- 159 Geho, D. H., Bandle, R. W., Clair, T. and Liotta, L. A. (2005) Physiological mechanisms of t umor-cell invasion and migration. Physiology (Bethesda) **20**, 194-200
- 160 Ridley, A. J., Paterson, H. F., Johnston, C. L., Diekmann, D. and Hall, A. (1992) The small GTP-binding protein rac regulates growth factor-induced membrane ruffling. Cell 70, 401-410
- 161 Nobes, C. D. and Hall, A. (1995) Rho, rac and cdc42 GTPases: regulators of actin structures, cell adhesion and motility. Biochem Soc Trans 23, 456-459
- 162 Burridge, K., Fath, K., Kelly, T., Nuckolls, G. and Turner, C. (1988) Focal adhesions: transmembrane junctions between the extracellular matrix and the cytoskeleton. Annu Rev Cell Biol 4, 487-525
- 163 Wolf, K. and Friedl, P. (2006) Molecular mechanisms of cancer cell invasion and plasticity. Br J Dermatol 154 Suppl 1, 11-15
- 164 Hynes, R. O. (2002) Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell 110, 673-687
- 165 Zamir, E. and Geiger, B. (2001) Molecular complexity and dynamics of cell-matrix adhesions. J Cell Sci 114, 3583-3590
- 166 Miyamoto, S., Teramoto, H., Coso, O. A., Gutkind, J. S., Burbelo, P. D., Akiyama, S. K. and Yamada, K. M. (1995) Integrin function: molecular hierarchies of cytoskeletal and signaling molecules. J Cell Biol 131, 791-805
- 167 Carragher, N. O. and Frame, M. C. (2004) Focal adhesion and actin dynamics: a place where kinases and proteases meet to promote invasion. Trends Cell Biol **14**, 241-249
- 168 Cramer, L. P. (1999) Organization and polarity of actin filament networks in cells: implications for

the mechanism of myosin-based cell motility. Biochem Soc Symp 65, 173-205

- 169 Verkhovsky, A. B., Svitkina, T. M. and Borisy, G. G. (1995) Myosin II filament assemblies in the active lamella of fibroblasts: their morphogenesis and role in the formation of actin filament bundles. J Cell Biol 131, 989-1002
- 170 Fincham, V. J., James, M., Frame, M. C. and Winder, S. J. (2000) Active ERK/MAP kinase is targeted to newly forming cell-matrix adhesions by integrin engagement and v-Src. Embo J **19**, 2911-2923
- 171 Kamm, K. E. and Stull, J. T. (2001) Dedicated myosin light chain kinases with diverse cellular functions. J Biol Chem **276**, 4527-4530
- 172 Wear, M. A., Schafer, D. A. and Cooper, J. A. (2000) Actin dynamics: assembly and disassembly of actin networks. Curr Biol **10**, R891-895
- 173 Zeng, L., Si, X., Yu, W. P., Le, H. T., Ng, K. P., Teng, R. M., Ryan, K., Wang, D. Z., Ponniah, S. and Pallen, C. J. (2003) PTPα regulates integrin-stimulated FAK autophosphorylation and cytoskeletal rearrangement in cell spreading and migration. J Cell Biol 160, 137-146
- 174 Pfaff, M., Du, X. and Ginsberg, M. H. (1999) Calpain cleavage of integrin β cytoplasmic domains. FEBS Lett **460**, 17-22
- 175 Potter, D. A., Tirnauer, J. S., Janssen, R., Croall, D. E., Hughes, C. N., Fiacco, K. A., Mier, J. W., Maki, M. and Herman, I. M. (1998) Calpain regulates actin remodeling during cell spreading. J Cell Biol 141, 647-662
- 176 Bretscher, M. S. (1996) Getting membrane flow and the cytoskeleton to cooperate in moving cells. Cell 87, 601-606
- 177 Kramer, K., Kushner, B., Heller, G. and Cheung, N. K. (2001) Neuroblastoma metastatic to the central nervous system. The Memorial Sloan-kettering Cancer Center Experience and A Literature Review. Cancer **91**, 1510-1519
- 178 Heldin, C. H., Östman, A. and Rönnstrand, L. (1998) Signal transduction via platelet-derived growth factor receptors. Biochim Biophys Acta **1378**, F79-113
- 179 Pola, S., Cattaneo, M. G. and Vicentini, L. M. (2003) Anti-migratory and anti-invasive effect of somatostatin in human neuroblastoma cells: involvement of Rac and MAP kinase activity. J Biol Chem 278, 40601-40606
- 180 Orlando, C., Raggi, C. C., Bagnoni, L., Sestini, R., Briganti, V., La Cava, G., Bernini, G., Tonini, G. P., Pazzagli, M., Serio, M. and Maggi, M. (2001) Somatostatin receptor type 2 gene expression in neuroblastoma, measured by competitive RT-PCR, is related to patient survival and to somatostatin receptor imaging by indium -111-pentetreotide. Med Pediatr Oncol 36, 224-226
- 181 Meyer, G. and Feldman, E. L. (2002) Signaling mechanisms that regulate actin-based motility processes in the nervous system. J Neurochem **83**, 490-503
- 182 Meyer, G. E., Shelden, E., Kim, B. and Feldman, E. L. (2001) Insulin-like growth factor I stimulates motility in human neuroblastoma cells. Oncogene 20, 7542-7550
- 183 Noujaim, D., van Golen, C. M., van Golen, K. L., Grauman, A. and Feldman, E. L. (2002) N-Myc and Bcl-2 coexpression induces MMP-2 secretion and activation in human neuroblastoma cells. Oncogene 21, 4549-4557
- 184 Abboud, S. L., Bethel, C. R. and Aron, D. C. (1991) Secretion of insulinlike growth factor I and insulinlike growth factor-binding proteins by murine bone marrow stromal cells. J Clin Invest 88, 470-475
- 185 Mohan, S. and Baylink, D. J. (1991) Bone growth factors. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 30-48
- 186 van Golen, C. M., Castle, V. P. and Feldman, E. L. (2000) IGF-I receptor activation and BCL-2 overexpression prevent early apoptotic events in human neuroblastoma. Cell Death Differ 7, 654-665
- 187 Machesky, L. M. and Hall, A. (1997) Role of actin polymerization and adhesion to extracellular matrix in Rac- and Rho-induced cytoskeletal reorganization. J Cell Biol 138, 913-926
- 188 Meyer, G., Kim, B., van Golen, C. and Feldman, E. L. (2005) Cofilin activity during insulin-like growth factor I-stimulated neuroblastoma cell motility. Cell Mol Life Sci 62, 461-470
- 189 Fagerström, S., Påhlman, S., Gestblom, C. and Nanberg, Ε. (1996) Protein kinase C-ε is implicated in neurite outgrowth in differentiating human neuroblastoma cells. Cell Growth Differ 7, 775-785
- 190 Zong, C. S., Chan, J., Levy, D. E., Horvath, C., Sadowski, H. B. and Wang, L. H. (2000) Mechanism of STAT3 activation by insulin-like growth factor I receptor. J Biol Chem 275, 15099-15105
- 191 Meyer, A., van Golen, C. M., Kim, B., van Golen, K. L. and Feldman, E. L. (2004) Integrin

expression regulates neuroblastoma attachment and migration. Neoplasia 6, 332-342

- 192 Judware, R. and Culp, L. A. (1995) Over-expression of transfected N-myc oncogene in human SKNSH neuroblastoma cells down-regulates expression of β1 integrin subunit. Oncogene 11, 2599-2607
- 193 van Golen, C. M., Soules, M. E., Grauman, A. R. and Feldman, E. L. (2003) N-Myc overexpression leads to decreased β1 integrin expression and increased apoptosis in human neuroblastoma cells. Oncogene 22, 2664-2673
- 194 Favrot, M. C., Combaret, V., Goillot, E., Lutz, P., Frappaz, D., Thiesse, P., Thyss, A., Dolbeau, D., Bouffet, E., Tabone, E. and et al. (1991) Expression of integrin receptors on 45 clinical neuroblastoma specimens. Int J Cancer 49, 347-355
- 195 Zheng, B. and Clemmons, D. R. (1998) Blocking ligand occupancy of the αVβ3 integrin inhibits insulin-like growth factor I signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 11217-11222
- 196 Vuori, K. and Ruoslahti, E. (1993) Activation of protein kinase C precedes α5β1 integrin-mediated cell spreading on fibronectin. J Biol Chem 268, 21459-21462
- 197 Schliwa, M., Nakamura, T., Porter, K. R. and Euteneuer, U. (1984) A tumor promoter induces rapid and coordinated reorganization of actin and vinculin in cultured cells. J Cell Biol 99, 1045-1059
- 198Brandt, D., Gimona, M., Hillmann, M., Haller, H. and Mischak, H. (2002) Protein kinase C induces
actin reorganization via a Src- and Rho-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem 277, 20903-20910
- 199 Larsson, C. (2005) Protein kinase C and the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton. Cell Signal
- 200 Tan, M., Li, P., Sun, M., Yin, G. and Yu, D. (2006) Upregulation and activation of PKCα by ErbB2 through Src promotes breast cancer cell invasion that can be blocked by combined treatment with PKCα and Src inhibitors. Oncogene 25, 3286-3295
- 201 Sun, X. G. and Rotenberg, S. A. (1999) Overexpression of protein kinase Cα in MCF-10A human breast cells engenders dramatic alterations in morphology, proliferation, and motility. Cell Growth Differ 10, 343-352
- 202 Ng, T., Shima, D., Squire, A., Bastiaens, P. I., Gschmeissner, S., Humphries, M. J. and Parker, P. J. (1999) PKCα regulates β1 integrin-dependent cell motility through association and control of integrin traffic. Embo J 18, 3909-3923
- 203 Masur, K., Lang, K., Niggemann, B., Zanker, K. S. and Entschladen, F. (2001) High PKC α and low E-cadherin expression contribute to high migratory activity of colon carcinoma cells. Mol Biol Cell 12, 1973-1982
- 204 Harrington, E. O., Loffler, J., Nelson, P. R., Kent, K. C., Simons, M. and Ware, J. A. (1997) Enhancement of migration by protein kinase Cα and inhibition of proliferation and cell cycle progression by protein kinase Cδ in capillary endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 272, 7390-7397
- 205 Mostafavi-Pour, Z., Askari, J. A., Parkinson, S. J., Parker, P. J., Ng, T. T. and Humphries, M. J. (2003) Integrin-specific signaling pathways controlling focal adhesion formation and cell migration. J Cell Biol 161, 155-167
- Haller, H., Lindschau, C., Maasch, C., Olthoff, H., Kurscheid, D. and Luft, F. C. (1998)
 Integrin-induced protein kinase Cα and Cε translocation to focal adhesions mediates vascular smooth muscle cell spreading. Circ Res 82, 157-165
- 207 Wang, A., Nomura, M., Patan, S. and Ware, J. A. (2002) Inhibition of protein kinase Cα prevents endothelial cell migration and vascular tube formation in vitro and myocardial neovascularization in vivo. Circ Res **90**, 609-616
- 208 Zhang, J., Anastasiadis, P. Z., Liu, Y., Thompson, E. A. and Fields, A. P. (2004) Protein kinase C (PKC) βII induces cell invasion through a Ras/Mek-, PKC ι/Rac 1-dependent signaling pathway. J Biol Chem 279, 22118-22123
- 209 Volkov, Y., Long, A., McGrath, S., Ni Eidhin, D. and Kelleher, D. (2001) Crucial importance of PKC-βI in LFA-1-mediated locomotion of activated T cells. Nat Immunol 2, 508-514
- 210 Buensuceso, C. S., Obergfell, A., Soriani, A., Eto, K., Kiosses, W. B., Arias-Salgado, E. G., Kawakami, T. and Shattil, S. J. (2005) Regulation of outside-in signaling in platelets by integrin-associated protein kinase Cβ. J Biol Chem 280, 644-653
- 211 Iwabu, A., Smith, K., Allen, F. D., Lauffenburger, D. A. and Wells, A. (2004) Epidermal growth factor induces fibroblast contractility and motility via a protein kinase C δ-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem 279, 14551-14560

- 212 Fan, J., Guan, S., Cheng, C. F., Cho, M., Fields, J. W., Chen, M., Denning, M. F., Woodley, D. T. and Li, W. (2006) PKCδ clustering at the leading edge and mediating growth factor-enhanced, but not ecm-initiated, dermal fibroblast migration. J Invest Dermatol 126, 1233-1243
- 213 Kermorgant, S., Zicha, D. and Parker, P. J. (2004) PKC controls HGF-dependent c-Met traffic, signalling and cell migration. Embo J **23**, 3721-3734
- 214 Ivaska, J., Whelan, R. D., Watson, R. and Parker, P. J. (2002) PKCε controls the traffic of β1 integrins in motile cells. Embo J **21**, 3608-3619
- 215 Besson, A., Wilson, T. L. and Yong, V. W. (2002) The anchoring protein RACK1 links protein kinase Cε to integrin β chains. Requirements for adhesion and motility. J Biol Chem 277, 22073-22084
- 216 Berrier, A. L., Mastrangelo, A. M., Downward, J., Ginsberg, M. and LaFlamme, S. E. (2000) Activated R-ras, Rac1, PI 3-kinase and PKCe can each restore cell spreading inhibited by isolated integrin β1 cytoplasmic domains. J Cell Biol 151, 1549-1560
- 217 Pan, Q., Bao, L. W., Teknos, T. N. and Merajver, S. D. (2006) Targeted disruption of protein kinase Cε reduces cell invasion and motility through inactivation of RhoA and RhoC GTPases in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 66, 9379-9384
- 218 Pan, Q., Bao, L. W., Kleer, C. G., Sabel, M. S., Griffith, K. A., Teknos, T. N. and Merajver, S. D. (2005) Protein kinase Ce is a predictive biomarker of aggressive breast cancer and a validated target for RNA interference anticancer therapy. Cancer Res 65, 8366-8371
- 219 Gauthier, M. L., Torretto, C., Ly, J., Francescutti, V. and O'Day, D. H. (2003) Protein kinase Ca negatively regulates cell spreading and motility in MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells downstream of epidermal growth factor receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 307, 839-846
- 220 Johnson, M. D., Torri, J. A., Lippman, M. E. and Dickson, R. B. (1999) Regulation of motility and protease expression in PKC-mediated induction of MCF-7 breast cancer cell invasiveness. Exp Cell Res 247, 105-113
- 221 Ways, D. K., Kukoly, C. A., deVente, J., Hooker, J. L., Bryant, W. O., Posekany, K. J., Fletcher, D. J., Cook, P. P. and Parker, P. J. (1995) MCF-7 breast cancer cells transfected with protein kinase C-α exhibit altered expression of other protein kinase C isoforms and display a more aggressive neoplastic phenotype. J Clin Invest 95, 1906-1915
- 222 Manni, A., Buckwalter, E., Etindi, R., Kunselman, S., Rossini, A., Mauger, D., Dabbs, D. and Demers, L. (1996) Induction of a less aggressive breast cancer phenotype by protein kinase C-α and -β overexpression. Cell Growth Differ 7, 1187-1198
- Jackson, D., Zheng, Y., Lyo, D., Shen, Y., Nakayama, K., Nakayama, K. I., Humphries, M. J., Reyland, M. E. and Foster, D. A. (2005) Suppression of cell migration by protein kinase Cδ. Oncogene 24, 3067-3072
- 224 Liu, B., Ryer, E. J., Kundi, R., Kamiya, K., Itoh, H., Faries, P. L., Sakakibara, K. and Kent, K. C. (2007) Protein kinase C-δ regulates migration and proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells through the extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2. J Vasc Surg 45, 160-168
- 225 Hynes, R. O. (1992) Integrins: versatility, modulation, and signaling in cell adhesion. Cell 69, 11-25
- 226 Brenner, W., Benzing, F., Gudejko-Thiel, J., Fischer, R., Farber, G., Hengstler, J. G., Seliger, B. and Thuroff, J. W. (2004) Regulation of β1 integrin expression by PKCε in renal cancer cells. Int J Oncol 25, 1157-1163
- 227 Buensuceso, C. S., Woodside, D., Huff, J. L., Plopper, G. E. and O'Toole, T. E. (2001) The WD protein Rack1 mediates protein kinase C and integrin-dependent cell migration. J Cell Sci 114, 1691-1698
- 228 Rabinovitz, I., Toker, A. and Mercurio, A. M. (1999) Protein kinase C-dependent mobilization of the α6β4 integrin from hemidesmosomes and its association with actin-rich cell protrusions drive the chemotactic migration of carcinoma cells. J Cell Biol 146, 1147-1160
- 229 Ivaska, J., Vuoriluoto, K., Huovinen, T., Izawa, I., Inagaki, M. and Parker, P. J. (2005) PKCepsilon-mediated phosphorylation of vimentin controls integrin recycling and motility. Embo J 24, 3834-3845
- 230 Thelen, M., Rosen, A., Nairn, A. C. and Aderem, A. (1991) Regulation by phosphorylation of reversible association of a myristoylated protein kinase C substrate with the plasma membrane. Nature 351, 320-322
- 231 Glaser, M., Wanaski, S., Buser, C. A., Boguslavsky, V., Rashidzada, W., Morris, A., Rebecchi, M., Scarlata, S. F., Runnels, L. W., Prestwich, G. D., Chen, J., Aderem, A., Ahn, J. and McLaughlin, S.

(1996) Myristoylated alanine-rich C kinase substrate (MARCKS) produces reversible inhibition of phospholipase C by sequestering phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate in lateral domains. J Biol Chem **271**, 26187-26193

- 232 Hartwig, J. H., Thelen, M., Rosen, A., Janmey, P. A., Nairn, A. C. and Aderem, A. (1992) MARCKS is an actin filament crosslinking protein regulated by protein kinase C and calcium-calmodulin. Nature 356, 618-622
- 233 Arbuzova, A., Schmitz, A. A. and Vergeres, G. (2002) Cross-talk unfolded: MARCKS proteins. Biochem J 362, 1-12
- 234 Ng, T., Parsons, M., Hughes, W. E., Monypenny, J., Zicha, D., Gautreau, A., Arpin, M., Gschmeissner, S., Verveer, P. J., Bastiaens, P. I. and Parker, P. J. (2001) Ezrin is a downstream effector of trafficking PKC-integrin complexes involved in the control of cell motility. Embo J 20, 2723-2741
- 235 Pietromonaco, S. F., Simons, P. C., Altman, A. and Elias, L. (1998) Protein kinase Cθ
- phosphorylation of moesin in the actin-binding sequence. J Biol Chem 273, 7594-7603
 Simons, P. C., Pietromonaco, S. F., Reczek, D., Bretscher, A. and Elias, L. (1998) C-terminal threonine phosphorylation activates ERM proteins to link the cell's cortical lipid bilayer to the cytoskeleton. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 253, 561-565
- Adams, J. C. (2004) Roles of fascin in cell adhesion and motility. Curr Opin Cell Biol 16, 590-596
- 238 Qian, Y., Baisden, J. M., Cherezova, L., Summy, J. M., Guappone-Koay, A., Shi, X., Mast, T., Pustula, J., Zot, H. G., Mazloum, N., Lee, M. Y. and Flynn, D. C. (2002) PKC phosphorylation increases the ability of AFAP-110 to cross-link actin filaments. Mol Biol Cell 13, 2311-2322
- 239 Gatesman, A., Walker, V. G., Baisden, J. M., Weed, S. A. and Flynn, D. C. (2004) Protein kinase Cα activates c-Src and induces podosome formation via AFAP-110. Mol Cell Biol **24**, 7578-7597
- 240 Braun, D. C., Garfield, S. H. and Blumberg, P. M. (2005) Analysis by fluorescence resonance energy transfer of the interaction between ligands and protein kinase Cδ in the intact cell. J Biol Chem 280, 8164-8171
- 241 Oh, E. S., Woods, A., Lim, S. T., Theibert, A. W. and Couchman, J. R. (1998) Syndecan-4 proteoglycan cytoplasmic domain and phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate coordinately regulate protein kinase C activity. J Biol Chem 273, 10624-10629
- 242 Sanchez-Bautista, S., Marin-Vicente, C., Gomez-Fernandez, J. C. and Corbalan-Garcia, S. (2006) The C2 domain of PKCα is a Ca²⁺ -dependent PtdIns(4,5)P2 sensing domain: a new insight into an old pathway. J Mol Biol **362**, 901-914
- 243 Ling, M., Troller, U., Zeidman, R., Lundberg, C. and Larsson, C. (2004) Induction of neurites by the regulatory domains of PKCδ and ε is counteracted by PKC catalytic activity and by the RhoA pathway. Exp Cell Res 292, 135-150
- Huse, M. and Kuriyan, J. (2002) The conformational plasticity of protein kinases. Cell 109, 275-282
- 245 Lehel, C., Olah, Z., Jakab, G. and Anderson, W. B. (1995) Protein kinase Ce is localized to the Golgi via its zinc-finger domain and modulates Golgi function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 1406-1410
- 246 Oka, M., Okada, T., Nakamura, S., Ohba, M., Kuroki, T., Kikkawa, U., Nagai, H., Ichihashi, M. and Nishigori, C. (2003) PKCδ inhibits PKCα-mediated activation of phospholipase D1 in a manner independent of its protein kinase activity. FEBS Lett 554, 179-183
- 247 Zeidman, R., Löfgren, B., Påhlman, S. and Larsson, C. (1999) PKCε, via its regulatory domain and independently of its catalytic domain, induces neurite-like processes in neuroblastoma cells. J Cell Biol 145, 713-726
- 248 Goerke, A., Sakai, N., Gutjahr, E., Schlapkohl, W. A., Mushinski, J. F., Haller, H., Kolch, W., Saito, N. and Mischak, H. (2002) Induction of apoptosis by protein kinase Cδ is independent of its kinase activity. J Biol Chem 277, 32054-32062
- 249 Schultz, A., Jonsson, J. I. and Larsson, C. (2003) The regulatory domain of protein kinase Cθ localises to the Golgi complex and induces apoptosis in neuroblastoma and Jurkat cells. Cell Death Differ 10, 662-675
- 250 Colon-Gonzalez, F. and Kazanietz, M. G. (2006) C1 domains exposed: from diacylglycerol binding to protein-protein interactions. Biochim Biophys Acta 1761, 827-837
- 251 Canagarajah, B., Leskow, F. C., Ho, J. Y., Mischak, H., Saidi, L. F., Kazanietz, M. G. and Hurley, J. H. (2004) Structural mechanism for lipid activation of the Rac-specific GAP, β2-chimaerin. Cell 119, 407-418
- 252 Wilkinson, S., Paterson, H. F. and Marshall, C. J. (2005) Cdc42-MRCK and Rho-ROCK signalling

cooperate in myosin phosphorylation and cell invasion. Nat Cell Biol 7, 255-261

- 253 Påhlman, S., Odelstad, L., Larsson, E., Grotte, G. and Nilsson, K. (1981) Phenotypic changes of human neuroblastoma cells in culture induced by 12-O-tetradecanoyl-phorbol-13-acetate. Int J Cancer 28, 583-589
- 254 Entschladen, F., Drell, T. L. t., Lang, K., Masur, K., Palm, D., Bastian, P., Niggemann, B. and Zaenker, K. S. (2005) Analysis methods of human cell migration. Exp Cell Res 307, 418-426
- 255 Zeidman, R., Pettersson, L., Sailaja, P. R., Truedsson, E., Fagerström, S., Påhlman, S. and Larsson, C. (1999) Novel and classical protein kinase C isoforms have different functions in proliferation, survival and differentiation of neuroblastoma cells. Int J Cancer 81, 494-501
- 256 Park, Y. H., Kantor, L., Guptaroy, B., Zhang, M., Wang, K. K. and Gnegy, M. E. (2003) Repeated amphetamine treatment induces neurite outgrowth and enhanced amphetamine-stimulated dopamine release in rat pheochromocytoma cells (PC12 cells) via a protein kinase C- and mitogen activated protein kinase-dependent mechanism. J Neurochem 87, 1546-1557
- 257 Besson, A., Davy, A., Robbins, S. M. and Yong, V. W. (2001) Differential activation of ERKs to focal adhesions by PKC ε is required for PMA-induced adhesion and migration of human glioma cells. Oncogene 20, 7398-7407
- 258 Wu, W. C., Walaas, S. I., Nairn, A. C. and Greengard, P. (1982) Calcium/phospholipid regulates phosphorylation of a Mr "87k" substrate protein in brain synaptosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 79, 5249-5253
- 259 Disatnik, M. H., Boutet, S. C., Pacio, W., Chan, A. Y., Ross, L. B., Lee, C. H. and Rando, T. A. (2004) The bi-directional translocation of MARCKS between membrane and cytosol regulates integrin-mediated muscle cell spreading. J Cell Sci 117, 4469-4479
- 260 Myat, M. M., Anderson, S., Allen, L. A. and Aderem, A. (1997) MARCKS regulates membrane ruffling and cell spreading. Curr Biol 7, 611-614